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QOctober 26, 2012

The Honorable Mayor, Members of Town Council
and the Citizens of the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia:

Section 15.1-167 of the Code of Virginia, requires an annual independent audit and report
of financial activity of the Town presented in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) and audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards by a firm of licensed certified public accountants. Pursuant to that requirement,
the Finance Department and Town Manager's Office hereby issue the Comprehensive
Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia for the fiscal year

ended June 30, 2012.

This report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the Town
of Christiansburg. Consequently, management assumes full responsibility for the
completeness and reliability of all of the information presented in this report.

The Report

The Town of Christiansburg’s financial statements have been audited by the independent
certified public accounting firm of Michael B. Cooke, C.P.A,, P.C. The goal of the independent
audit was to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements of the Town of
Christiansburg for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, are free of material misstatement.
The independent audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management; and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. The independent auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that
there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unqualified opinion that the Town of
Christiansburg’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, are fairly
presented in conformity with GAAP. The independent auditor’s report is presented at the
front of the financial section of this report.

The independent audit of the financial statements of the Town of Christiansburg was part
of a broader, federally mandated “Single Audit” designed to meet the special needs of
federal grantor agencies. The standards governing Single Audit engagements require the
independent auditor to report not only on the fair presentation of the financia) statements,
but also on the audited government’s internal controls and compliance with legal
requirements, with special emphasis on internal controls and legal reguirements
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involving the administration of federal awards. These reports are available in the Town of
Christiansburg’s separately issued Compliance Reports.

GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to
accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A) that immediately follows the independent auditors’ report. This letter of transmittal is
designed to complement MD&A and should be read in conjunction with the report of the
independent auditors.

Profile of the Government

Location, History, and Government

The Town of Christiansburg was founded and organized in 1792 and incorporated in 1833. The
Town is located in Montgomery County, and is the county seat. The Town has a land area of 13.9
square miles. Christiansburg is the fourth largest town in the Commonwealth of Virginia with
21,041 residents (2010 Census). The Town is empowered to levy a property tax on real properties
located within its boundaries. Town residents are also citizens of and are subject to taxation by

Montgomery County.

The Town of Christiansburg is organized under the Council-Manager form of government. The
Town Council is the legislative body of the Town and is comprised of the Mayor and six council
members, who enact laws, determine policies and adopt the annual budget. The Council, including
the Mayor, is elected at large for four-year overlapping terms. Town Council appoints a Town
- Manager to who is responsible for the daily management of the Town.

For financial reporting purposes, the Town of Christiansburg includes all funds, agencies, boards,
commissions and authorities that are controlled by or are financially dependent upon the Town.
Control by or financial dependence was determined on the basis of obligation of the Town to
finance deficits, guarantee debt, select the governing authority, approve the budget, have authority
to make a public levy, and to have ownership of assets. The Town of Christiansburg has not
identified any entities that should be reported as discretely presented component units of the

Town.

Jointly governed organizations of the Town of Christiansburg that require only note disclosure
presentation are the Blacksburg-Christiansburg-VPI Water Authority, Montgomery Regional Solid
Waste Authority, the Virginia Tech-Montgomery Regional Airport Authority, the
Blacksburg/Christiansburg/Montgomery Area Metropolitan Planning Organization, and the New
River Valley Emergency Communications Regional Authority.

i
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Services Provided

The Town of Christiansburg provides services for its citizens that have proven to be necessary and
meaningful. Major services provided under the general government and enterprise function
include: general administration, public safety, public works, planning, and recreational activities.
The Town also provides and maintains water and sewer utilities, solid waste and recycling services,
and Montgomery County provides public school services and educational programs for the students
of the Town of Christiansburg.

Accounting System and Budgetary Controf

The Town’s accounting records for general governmental operations are maintained on a modified
accrual basis, with the revenues being recorded when available and measurable and expenditures
being recorded when the services or goods are received and the liabilities are incurred. Accounting
records for the Town’s utilities and other proprietary activities are maintained on the accrual basis.

In developing the Town’s accounting system, consideration is given to the adequacy of internal
control structure. Internal accounting controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance regarding: (1) the safeguarding of assets against loss from unauthorized use or
disposition; and (2) the reliability of financial records for preparing financial statements and
maintaining accountability for assets. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: (1) the
cost of control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the evaluation of costs
and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.

All internal control evaluations occur within the above framework. We believe that the Town's
internal controls adequately safeguard assets and provide reasonable assurance of proper
recording of financial transactions.

The Town Council adopts an annual budget prepared by Town management. This budget is
reviewed by the Town Council and is formally adopted by the passage of a budget ordinance. The
Director of Finance is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between line items and
departments within any fund; however, any revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund
must be approved by the Town Council.

Budgetary control has been established at the individual fund level. Financial reports are produced
showing budget to actual expenditures by line item, and are distributed monthly to Town
departmental management and to others upon request.

I
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Individual line items are reviewed and analyzed for budgetary compliance. Personnel expenditures
are monitored and controlled at a position level and capital expenditures are monitored and
controlled item by item. Revenue budgets are reviewed monthly.

Budget-to-actual comparisons are provided in this report for each individual governmental fund for
which an appropriated annual budget has been adopted. For the general fund, this comparison is
presented in Exhibit G as part of the basic financial statements for the governmental funds. The
budget-to-actual comparisons for the other governmental funds are shown in the Required
Supplementary Information of the report as Exhibits L and M.

Local Economy

The information presented in the financial statements is perhaps best understood when it is
considered from the broader perspective of the specific environment within which the Town of

Christiansburg operates.

The Town of Christiansburg is located along the 1-81 corridor in Montgomery County and is the
county seat. The Town is the major retail shopping outlet for the surrounding community which
includes the City of Radford and the Town of Blacksburg. The City of Radford is home to Radford
University and the Town of Blacksburg is home to Virginia Tech. Each university houses a large
annual student population and Virginia Tech has a strong and popular football team which attracts
thousands of visitors throughout the football season. Christiansburg is also home to the
Nationwide Dish Network customer service facility. In October of 2012, BackCountry.com opened
a major distribution center in the industrial park which is expected to employee approximately 500
people when fully operational over the next several years. The Town continues to work with the
Economic Development Department of Montgomery County to increase its business base and
industrial customers. Although the Town saw declines in revenues during this recessionary
period, the Town has continued to increase reserves.

Long-term Financial Planning

In 2009, the Town Council established its 2020 Vision which outlined nine vision statements that
guide the short and long-term planning for operations and decisions within the Town. Those vision
statements include the following objectives; to be: Everyone's Hometown; a Retail, Commerce, and
Tourist Destination; To Have Well Informed Citizens; A Green Community; A Recreation, Cultural,
and Entertainment Mecca; A Clean, Healthy, Safe Place to Live; A Model of Effective Land Use; An
Interconnected Community; and a Sound Financial Entity. Each of these objectives are considered
when evaluating financial and operational issues and they are the framework under which the
annual budget is established. Over the last several years, the Town has been establishing new
policies and procedures for various aspects of its operations to achieve these objectives. The Town

v
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Council Chambers were recently updated to include projectors and microphones allowing taping of
monthly meetings so that the citizens may be better informed. New initiatives have been made to
establish more sidewalks and trails throughout the Town for recreational purposes, as well as
fostering an interconnected community.

Relevant Financial Policies

The annual budget serves as the Town’s operations plan and is prepared in accordance with
Virginia Law providing a forecast for future years’ operations and capital needs.  This format
provides the governing body with information to assess the sustainability of ongoing operational
and capital needs as well as providing changes that may be needed in the future to create a fiscally
sound and sustainabie plan.

Each year the budget includes new assignments of fund balance for projects and capital needs in the
future. The Town has adopted a fund balance policy that sets forth best practices for the amount of
unassigned fund balance to be retained and the use of those balances for non-operational costs.
These fund balances are reviewed each year and appropriate actions are taken to ensure
appropriate fund balances are in place.

The Town invests its reserved or assigned fund balances in local banks in certificates of deposits,
savings accounts, and money market funds to provide liquidity and to guard against the risk of loss.
Through periodic requests from proposals, the Town strives to increase the investment earnings on
these funds.

The real estate tax rate has remained unchanged in the Town for six years and was actually reduced
in 2007 from 0.144 to the current rate of 0.1126 per hundred dollars. In 1980, the tax rate was
0.225 per hundred dollars and was reduced in 1983 to 0.175 per hundred dollars and again in 1990
t0 0.144 per hundred dollars. The rate was reduced during significant growth and development and
increased assessed values. The personal property tax rate is 0.444 per hundred dollars and has not
been changed since 1987 when the rate was reduced from 2.25 per hundred dollars. Citizens of
Christiansburg are taxed by both the Town and Montgomery County. The County increased its real
estate tax rate for 2012 from 0.74 per hundred dollars to 0.87 per hundred dollars, Its personal
property tax rate remains unchanged at 2.45 per hundred dollars. The increased real estate rate is
primarily to fund the construction of three new schools within the County.

The Town participants in the Virginia Retirement System (VRS) with benefits as outlined in the
footnotes to the financial statements., The Town's annual required contribution was equal to its
pension costs this year of $1,501,056. The Town currently funds the current year requirement as
well as an amortized portion of the unfunded liability. The unfunded actuarial accrued liability is
amortized over a period of 30 years. The unfunded actuarial accrued liability of the pension fund as
of the last valuation date of june 30, 2011 was $11.1 million.
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The Town also provides another pension benefit that accrues from divesting a retiree of accrued
sick leave upon retirement. The details of this plan are also described in the footnotes of the
financial statements. The system is on a pay-as-you-go basis and has an unfunded accrued lability
of $ 1,498,425,

The Town also provides its retired employees with at least 20 years of service an amount that is to
be paid into a medical reimbursement account. This other post-employment benefit is also a pay-
as-you-go system and has an unfunded accrued liability of $1,258,886 as of the last valuation date

of June 30, 2011.

Major Initiatives

During this fiscal year, the Town completed its biomass generator at the waste treatment plant
which was funded primarily with grant funds passed down from the federal government to the
Virginia Department of Mines, Minerals and Energy. The generator produces electricity to run a
portion of the plant by burning the methane gases generated by treatment of waste processed at

the facility.

The Town also completed the design for the Huckleberry Trail Bridge that will cross Peppers Ferry
Road. The bridge will be constructed by the Virginia Department of Transportation.

This is the first year that the Town has produced a Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR).
In prior years, the Town has issued General Purpose Financial Statements. It is our desire to
increase the level of information available to the citizens so that they may be better informed about
the Town's operations and activities.

Awards and Acknowledgements

The Christiansburg Police Department has received the following awards and accreditations:

Reaccreditation - The Department of Criminal justice awarded the agency its
reaccreditation certification, which accredits the agency for a four year period. The
Department was reviewed by the Virginia Law Enforcement Professional Standards
Commission in June 2012 and was found to be in compliance with all applicable standards.
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Governors Transportation Safety Award for Occupant Protection - This is awarded by the
Virginia Highway Safety Office to one municipal law enforcement agency in Virginia each
year. The Christiansburg Police Department received this award for its proactive approach
to occupant protection and seat belt usage.

Click it or Ticket Safety Belt Usage Award - This award is presented to municipalities that
prove the highest seat belt usage during the year.

Virginia Law Enforcement Challengé Award - This award is given to the Law Enforcement
Agency that ‘initiates the most proactive traffic safety program annually. Agencies are
judged on municipal size and the Town was awarded 15t place in Virginia for agencies with
50-75 officers.

The Town would like to express its sincere thanks to all of the staff in the finance office and all the
department directors and staff for their assistance and support in gathering and compiling all the
data and information required for this report. Their cooperation and dedication to improving the
Town in every way is remarkable.

Respectfully submitted,

Valerie L. Tweedie, CPA CFE CGFM
Director of Finance/Treasurer
Town of Christiansburg

o7 ///j

Barry Helms
Town Manager
Town of Christiansburg
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Michael B. Cooke, C.PA., PC.

Certified Public Accountants

6 Colony Park

2001 South Main Street
Blackshurg, Virginia 24060
{540) 953-1152

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPCRT

The Honorable Mayor and Members of the Town Council
Town of Christiansburg, Virginia

we have audiled the accompanying financial statements of the governmental
activities, business-type activities, and each major fund of the Town of
Christiansburg, Virginia, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2012, which
collectively comprise the Town's hasic financial statements as listed in the table of
contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Town of
Christiansburg's management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on thess
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing s.andards generally accepied
in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United Stetes; and Specifications for Audits of Counties, Cities and Towns
issued by the Auditor of Public Accounts of the Commonwealth of Virginia. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonabie
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
we believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities.
the business-type activities, and each major fund of the Town of Christiansburg as
of June 30, 2012, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows,
thereof, and the respective budgetary comparison for the general fund for the year
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report
dated October 26, 2012, on our consideration of the Town of Christiansburg's
internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpese of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to
provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Gouernment
Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of cur audit.

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require
-that the management's discussion and analysis, Virginia Retirement System -
Schedule of Funding Progress, Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
in Fund Balances - Budget to Actual -~ Special Revenue Fund, and Statement of
Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget to Actual —
Permanent Fund (Cemetery) on pages 4 through 10, 38, 39, and 40 respectively, be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information,
aithough not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential

2



part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance,

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial
statements that collectively comprise the Town of Christiansburg’'s basic financial
statements as a whole. The Introductory section and the Statistical Section
included in Schedules 1| through 19, are presented for purposes of additional
anatysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The
accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for
purposes of additional analysis as required by U.S. Office of Management and
Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Gouernments, and Non-Profit
Organizations, and is also not a required part of the financial statements. The
schedule of expenditures of federal awards is the responsibility of management
and it was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
inforrmation directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare
‘the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. The
introcductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly,
we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Mickol B. Cooke, CPA PO

Blacksburg, Virginia
October 26, 2012



TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG, VIRGINIA
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012

The following discussion and analysis of the Town of Christiansburg's financial
performance provides an overview of the Town's financial activities for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2012. It should be read in conjunction with the Town's basic
financial statements.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

¢« The Town's total net assets decreased by $976,245 during the fiscal year, on
the government-wide basis. The Town's total net assets, on the government-
wide basis, totaled $148,570,007 at June 30, 2012, Of this amount,
$13,869,343 may be used to meet ongoing obligations to citizens and
creditors, $128,276,086 is invested in capital assets, net of related debt,
$366,676 is restricted for perpetual care in the Cemetery Fund; $6,057,002 is
restricted for other purposes.

e On a dovernment-wide basis for governmental activities, the Town had
eXxpenses (including transfers) net of program revenues of $23,617,577,
which totaled $2,302,848 more than the general revenues, of $21,314,720.

* At June 30, 2012 the Town's governmental funds balance sheet reported
total ending fund balances of $19,358800 of which $408527 was
nonspendable as a part of the cemetery perpetual care and general funds,
52,214,932 was restricted by law or donor restrictions: $2,527,.638 was
assigned to specifics savings for future needs of the Town and $14,117,703
was unassigned and available to meet future needs.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Town's
basic financial statements. The Town's financial statements present two types of
statements, each with a different snapshot of the Town's finances. The focus is on
both the Town as a whole (government-wide) and the fund financial statements.
The government-wide financial statements provide both shortterm and long-term
information about the Town's overall financial status. The fund financials focus on
the individual parts of the Town government, reporting the Town's operations in
more detail than the government-wide statements, which present a longerterm
view. Presentation of both perspectives provides the user a broader overview,
enhances the basis for comparisons, and better reflects the Town’s accountability.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements include the Statement of Net Assets and
the Statement of Activities. These statements provide information about the Town
as a whole using the accrual basis of accounting, which is the method used by
Most private-sector enterprises. All current year revenues and expenses are
reported in the Statement of Activities regardiess of when cash is received or paid.
These staterments allow readers to answer the question, “Is the Town's financial
position, as a whole, better or worse as a result of the year's activities?"

One of the main goals of these two statements is o report the Town's net assets
and changes that affected net assets during the fiscal year. The change in the
Town's net assets, the difference between assets and liabilities, is one way to
measure the Town's financial health, or financial position. Increases or decreases
in net assets are indicators of whether the Town's financial health is improving or
deteriorating. Other nonfinancial factors, such as changes in the Town's property
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(CONTINUED)

tax base and the condition of the Town's infrastructure should also be considered
in assessing the overall financial health of the Town.

In the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities, the Town's fund-
based activity is classified as follows:

Governmental activities — Most of the Town’'s basic services are reported here,
including general government, public safety, public works, health and welfare,
parks and recreation, cemetery and community development, Property taxes,
other local taxes, and federal and state grants finance most of these activities. .

Business-type activitiess — The Town's water and sewer operations are reported
here as the Town charges a fee to customers designed to cover all or most of the

cost of the services it provides.
Fund Financial Staterents

Traditional users of governmental financial statements will find the fund financial
Statement presentation more familiar. The fund financial statements focus on the
Town's most significant funds rather than fund types. The fund financial
statements begin on page 13 and provide detailed information about the most
significant funds, not the Town as a whole. The Town has two types of funds:

Governmental funds - Most of the Town's basic services are included in
governmental funds. Fund-based statements for these funds focus on how
resources flow into and out of those funds and the balances left at year-end that
are available for future spending. These funds are reported on the modified
accrual basis of accounting, which measures cash and other liquid assets that can
readily be converted to cash. The governmental fund statements provide a detailed
shortterm overview that helps the reader determine the financial resources that
can be spent in the near future to finance the Town's programs. The differences
between governmental activities as reported in the government-wide and fund
financial statements are reconciled in Exhibits D and F on pages 14 and 16.

The Cemetery Fund (Permanent Fund} is a non-major Governmental Fund. The
Town as of April I, 2008 took over control of the Town’s cemetery.

The Special Revenue Fund is used in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that
are legally restricted by contract or donor to expenditures for a specified purpose.

Propriétary funds - When the Town charges customers for the services it provides,
whether to outside customers or to other units of the Town, these services are
generally reported in proprietary funds. Proprietary funds, like the government-
wide statements, utilize the accrual basis of accounting, and their staiements
provide both short and long-term financial information.

The Town's enterprise fund, one type of proprietary fund, is the same as the
government-wide business-type activities; however, the fund financial statements
provide more detail and additional information, such as cash flows. The Town's
enterprise fund is the Water and Sewer Fund.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TOWN AS A WHOLE

As noted earier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a
government's financial position. In the case of the Town of Christiansburg, assets
exceeded liabilities by $148,570,007 at the close of the most recent fiscal year.



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(CONTINUED)

By far the largest portion of the Town of Christiansburgd's net assets (87 percent)
reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g.., land, buildings and structures, and
equipment); less any related debt used to acquire those assets that are still
outstanding. The Town of Christiansburg uses these capital assets to provide
services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future
spending. Although the Town of Christiansburg's investment in its capital assets is
reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay
this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves
cannot be used to liquidate the liabilities.

Summary of Net Assets

The following table presents a condensed summary of net assets:

Summary of Net Assets
As of June 30, 2012
{In Thousands)

Governmental Activities  Business-type Activities  Total Primary Government

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
Current and other assets $ 23805 § 21,715 S 1,082 $ 939 § 24,887 § 22,654
Capital assets, net 107,610 111,857 39,431 38,828 147,041 150,685
Total Assets 131,415 133,572 40,513 39,767 171,928 173,339
Other liabilities 2,521 1,981 872 783 3,393 2,764
Long-term liabilities 13,174 13,569 6,791 7,461 19,965 21,030
Total Liabilities 15,695 - 15,550 7,663 8,244 23,358 23,794
Net assets;
Invested in capital assets,
net of related debt 095,524 99,222 32,753 31,470 128,277 130,692
Restricted : 6,424 6,185 - - 6,424 6,185
Unrestricted 13,772 12,615 97 53 13,869 12,668

Total Net Assets $ 115720 § 118,022 § 32,850 § 31,523 § 148,570 $ 149,545

The Town's combined net assets decreased from $149,546,252 to $148,570 007 as
a result of the increase in net assets of Business-type activities in $1,326.603 and
the decrease in Governmental activities of $2,302,848. This decrease in primarily
due to depreciation expense for the year exceeding additions of new assets,
Unrestricted net assets, the portion of net assets that can be used to finance the
day-to-day operations of the Town, totaled $13,869,343. Invested in capital assets,
represents the amount of capital assets owned by the Town,. including
infrastructure (net of any outstanding debt). Net assets are reported as restricted
when constraints on asset use are externally imposed by creditors, grantors,
contributors, regulators, or are imposed by law through constitutional provisions.
The total amount of restricted net assets is $6,423,679; $366,676 is restricted for
the use of perpetual care in the Cemetery Fund and $6,057,002 is restricted by law,
contract or donor restrictions or has been assigned for specific use.



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(CONTINUED)

Summary of Changes in Net Assets

The following table shows the revenues and expenses of the govemrent:

Revenues
Program Revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions
General Revenues:
Property taxes
Local portion of state sales taxes
Business and professional
occupational license taxes
Utility taxes
Prepared food and beverage taxes
Commonwealth share-personal
property taxes
Cigarette tax
E-911 and communication taxes
Transient room taxes
Other taxes
Permits, Fees and Licenses
Interest and Investment Income
Fines and Forfeitures
Miscellaneous
Cemetery
Payments from Other Governments-
State and Federal
Total Revenues
Expenses
General Government
Public Safety
Public Works
Health and Welfare
Parks, Recreation and Cultural
Community Development
Interest and Fiscal Charges
Water
Total Expenses
Capital contributions
Insurance recoveries
Transfers
Special item
Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets
Net Assets, Beginning
Net Assets, Ending

Summary of Changes in Net Assets
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012

(In Thousands)

Governmental Business-type Total Primary

Activities Activities Government
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
$ 2433 & 2207 $§ 6614 § 586 § 9,047 § 8,063
1,138 307 - - 1,138 307
8 1,326 - 8 1,326
3,076 3,016 3,076 3,016
1,563 1,547 1,563 1,547
2,030 1,895 - 2,030 1,895
505 519 505 519
5,623 5,408 - 5,623 5,408
229 229 229 229
630 722 - 630 722
931 980 - 931 980
920 812 - - 920 812
1,328 1,229 - - 1,328 1,229
190 131 - - 190 131
165 254 - - 165 254
127 95 - - 127 95
477 582 147 138 622 720
91 103 - 91 103
3,429 3,434 - - 3,429 3,434
24,893 24,796 6,761 5,994 - 31,654 30,790
2,220 2,377 - - 2,220 2,37
8,659 7,298 - - 8,659 7,299
5,380 5,154 - - 5,561 5,154
3 3 . 3 3
4,564 4,214 - 4,564 4,214
1,410 1,146 - 1,410 1,146
550 575 - - 550 575
- 6,455 6,370 6,455 6,370
26,786 20,691 6,455 6,370 33,241 27,138
- 1,257 610 53 610 1,310
2 49 - - 2 49
CI] (323) 411 323 - -
- 910 - - - 919
(2,302) 5,921 1,327 - (975) - 5921
118,022 112,101 31,523 31,523 149,545 143,624
$ 115720 § 118,022 § 32,850 § 31,523 § 148,570 § 149,545




MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(CONTINUED)

The property tax classification, which comprises approximately 12% of total
revenue generated by governmental activities, includes real estate tax, the local
portion of personal property tax, machinery & tools tax and public service
corporation taxes. Real estate tax revenue, totaled $2,248,584.

Sales taxes, consumer's utility taxes, Commonwealth share of personal property
taxes, business and professional occupational license taxes, prepared food and
beverage taxes, transient room taxes, E-Oll taxes, and cigarette taxes comprised
the majority of other local taxes collected by the Town. Other taxes comprised
approximately 53% of total revenues generated for governmental activities and are
the largest source of revenue for the Town.

Payments from other Governments - State and Federal comprised approximately
14% of governmental activities revenues. Street maintenance funds and funding
received under House Bill 599 for law enforcement are some of the major sources
of revenue included in this category.

Charges for services, including items such as recreational fees and garbage
collection fees, represent approximately 10% of the governmental activities

revenues.

Public Safety expenses comprised approximately 38% of expenses of the
governmental activities. Operations of the labor-intensive Police Department are
included in this category, along with expenses of the Building Inspections, Rescue
Squad, Fire Department and E-911 Call Center.

Public Works expenses comprised approximately 24% of governmental activities
cxpenses. Expenses for Solid wWaste Management, Building Maintenance, Street
Paving, and Street Maintenance are included in the Public Works category.

Recreation expenses comprised approximately 20% of governmental activities
EXPENSES.

An additional $410,640 in cash was transferred from the General Fund to the
Water/Sewer Fund during the fiscal year ending Junc 30, 2012.

Community Development and Health & Welfare include such items as industrial
development, planning district commission, planning, and engineering services. -

The net assets of business-type activities increased $1,326,603 primarily from the
contributed capital from grants for the biomass generator at the waste treatment
plant and grants in aid of construction totaling $757,632 and the purchase of capital
assets funded by the general fund.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TOWN'S FUNDS

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, the governmental funds reflect a total fund
balance of $19,358,800. Of this amount, $14,117,703 constitutes unassigned fund
balance, which is available for spending for services, debt obligations and future
capital projects. As a measure of the General Fund's liquidity, it may be useful to
compare unassigned fund balance to total fund expenditures,

The General Fund balance increased by $1,782,539 during the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2012 primarily due to not expending some budgeted funds as
management saw weak revenues emerging during the year and put constraints on
spending.

Local taxes generated the majority of General Fund revenue, totaling approximately
516,448,783 in fiscal year ending June 30, 2012,
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(CONTINUED)

Intergovernmental revenue is the second largest source of General Fund revenues,
generating approximately $3,802.224 in fiscal year ending June 30, 20i12. The
majority of this revenue is received from the Commonwealth and includes
reimbursement for law enforcement funding received under House Bill 599, and
street maintenance funds.

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

General Fund revenues were less than the budgeted revenues by $2,346,126 due
to slightly lower collections in a number of categories than anticipated.

General Fund expenditures were less than the budgeted amount by $2,060,153 for
general operations. Actual expenses for all departments were reduced due to
constraints on spending with the slowing recovery.

CAPITAL ASSETS

As of June 30, 2012, the Town's capital assets for its governmental and business-
type activities amounted to $147,040,426 (net of accumulated depreciation). This
investment includes land, streets and highways, construction in progress, land
improvemenis, buildings and structures, vehicles, equipment, infrastructure and
bond issue costs. The total net increase (additions less retirements and
depreciation) in the Town's investment in capital assets for the current fiscal year
was $173,357.

Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation

(In Thousands)
. Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total

June 30,2012 June 30,2011 June 30,2012 June 30,2011  Jume 30,2012  June 30, 201t
Land $ 2,699 % 2664 § 12 % 12 % 2,711 § 2,676
Construction in Progress 308 414 - . 308 414
Streets & Highways 72,551 76,370 - - 72,551 76,370
Land Improvements 1,713 1,863 - - 1,713 1,863
Buildings & Structures 25,651 25,953 19,138 19,167 44,789 45,120
Equipment 2,610 2,732 20,281 19,649 22,891 22,380
Vehicles 681 569 - 681 569
Infrastructure 1,265 1,155 - - 1,265 1,155
Bond Issue Cost 132 138 - - 132 138
Total $ 107,610 § 111,858 § 39,431 § 38,828 § 147,041 § 150,685

The changes in each category of Capital Assets are presented in detail in note 7 1o
the Basic Financial Statements.

Major capital asset events during the fiscal year included the following:

Construction in Progress — Major sewer and water main construction for the Miller
and Allegany Streets will continue through 2013, The Hills water tower and the
Cambria water tower were rehabilitated in 2012.

LONG-TERM DEBT

Al June 30, 2012, the Town's long-term. liabilities, not including compensated
absences, landfill closure, bond premiums and postclosure care costs payable,
totaled $18,763,440 comprised of $12,085,000 related to governmental activities,
and $6,678,440 related to business-type activities. Total debt decreased by
$1,230,252 during the fiscal year.,



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(CONTINUED)

The Charter of the Town of Christiansburg and Code of Virginia limits the Town’s
net debt to 10% of the assessed valuation of real estate within the Town limits.
This limit applies to govermmental activity debt only, as long-term liabilities of
business-type funds will be met by revenues generated by those funds. The
Town's governmental activity debt of $12,085,000 is well below the legal debt limit
of $190,277,130 (see Schedule I3 of Statistical Section).

Interest and fiscal charges for fiscal year ending June 30, 2012 were $536,163 of the
total governmental activities expenses.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET AND RATES

The economic outlook during 2012 was somewhat improved over 201t and 2010:
however, management does not see the level of improvement originally
anticipated. The employment rate for Montgomery County in the past fiscal year
has shown little change. The unemployment rate has remained at 6.8% since
September 2011. The unemployment rate for the State of Virginia is at 5.9% as of

August 2012.

Another indicator of the state of the economy is sales tax revenue, which is directly
proportional to retail sales. Retail sales did increase at a slow rate through 2012:
however, due to a 2% reduction in the portion distributed to the Town, the Town
only experienced a $15,580 increase in revenue. The reduction was due to a
decreased percentage of school age children in the Town as determined by the
2010 census. The economic indication is that sales are improving, signifying some
overall improvement in the economy. Revenues are still about 3% below the pre-
recession levels.

Also, transient lodging tax revenue increased $106,890, or 13%, and prepared
meals tax revenue increased $209,490, or 4% . The revenue numbers for meals
and lodging tax now slightly exceed 2009 levels.

In the fiscal year ending June 30, 2011, the Town experienced a 36% decrease in
building permits for new residential units compared to fiscal year 2000-2010. For
the current fiscal year, the Town experienced a 55% increase in permits over the
prior year. This is another indication that the overall economy is improving.

These signals seem to indicate that the economy in our area is stabilizing to some
extent with very small growth in a few areas. The Town also has concerns with
future intergovernmental revenues from both federal and state sources declining as
a result of the continued economic instability at the state and federal levels,
particularly as it relates to street maintenance funds and law enforcement funds.

The 2012-2013 budget includes a rate increase for water and sewer fees to help
offset the deficit in the enterprise fund and continues to have conservative
estimates of revenue based on the state of the economy. We have anticipated
onl}l/ moderate improvement in the economy and hence revenues in this budget
cycle.

CONTACTING THE TOWN'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers,
investors and creditors with a general overview of the Town's finances and to
demonstrate the Town's accountability for the resources it receives and their uses.
Questions concerning this report or requests for additional information should be
directed to the Town Manager or the Director of Finance at 100 East Main Street,
Christiansburg, Virginia 24073, telephone (540)382-6128. The Town's website
address is www.christiansburg.org.
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
AS OF JUNE 30, 2012

ASSEls
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, reserved
Cash and Cash Equivalents, restricted
Investments - short-term
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles)
Prepaid Items
Due from Other Governments
Total Current Assets

Capital Assets (net of accumulated depreciation):

Land

Land Improvements

Buildings and Structures

Machinery and Equipment

Vehicles

Infrastructure

Construction in Progress

Streets and Highways

Bond issue Caost (net of amortization)
Total Capital Assets, Net

Total Assets

Liabilitics
Accounts Payvable
Consumer Deposlis
Due to water Authority
Salaries Payable
Accrued General Obligation Bond Interest
Interest Payable
Deferred Revenue
Long-Term Liabilities:
Bond Premium
Due within one vear
Due in more than one year
Other Post-Employment Benefits

Total Liabilitics

Net Assets
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt
Restricied for:
Cemnetery Perpetual Care
Other Functions
Unrestricted

Total Net Assels

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Governmental

Business-Type

Exhibit A

Actlvities ACtivities Total
s 5,502,368 & 5,502,368
3,706,406 3,706,406
1,501,252 1,501,252
9,517,619 - 0,517,619
3,159,612 1,058,096 4,217,708
132,384 23,949 156,333
285,876 . 285,876
23,805,517 1,082,045 24,887,562
2,608,628 12,500 2,711,128
1,712,831 1,712,831
25,650,979 19,138,171 44,780,150
2,609,747 20,280,602 22,800,439
680,613 ] 680,613
1,265,225 1,265,225
308,209 308,209
72,550,712 72,550,712
132,119 132,119
107,609,063 30,431,363 147 040,426
131,414,580 40,513,408 171,927,988
1,758,811 1,420 1,760,331
: 321,400 321,499
- 424,590 424,590
531,144 56,251 587,395
- 68,425 68,425
226,220 226,229
5,022 5,022
60,734 60,734
638,800 817,443 1,456,243
12,218,563 5,073,843 18,192,406
255,107 255,107
15,694,510 7.663,471 23,357,081
05,524,065 32,752,921 128,276,086
366,676 366,676
6,057,002 6,057,002
13,772,327 97,016 13,869,343
115,720,070 & 32,849,937 148,570,007







TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FCR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012

Program
) i Revenues
- Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and
Functions/Programs Expenses services contributions Conirlbutions
Governmental Activities:

General Government 2,220,167 - s

Public Safety B.658.968 - [,137.981 8,316

Public wWorks 9,379,197 1,431,840

Health and welfare 3,183 -

Parks, Recreation, and Culture 4,564,487 1,001,541

Comrnunity Developrment 1,409,722 -

Interest on Long-Term Debt 550,881 - - -
Tota! Governmental Activities 26,786,615 2,433,381 1,137,981 8,318
Business-Type Activities:

water and Sewer 6,455,176 6,613,507 -

Total Business-Type Aciivities 6,455,176 6,613,507 - -
Total Primary Government S 33,241,791 $ 9,046,888 5 1,137,081 S : 8,316

General Revenues:
Taxes:
Property
Sales
Prepared Meal
Other
Permits, Fees and Licenses
Revenues From Use of Property
Investment Earnings
Intergovemmental
Fines and Forfeitures
Cemetery
Other
Grants in Ald of Construction
Transfers
Total General Revenues and Transfers

Change in Net Assets

Net Assets, July 1, 2011
Net Assets, June 30, 2012

See accompanying notes to financial staternents.




Net (Expense) Revenue and
Change in Net Assets

Primary Government

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total
(2.220,167) S S (2,220,167)
{7,512,671) (7.512,871)
(7.947,357) (7,.947,357)
(3,193} (3,183)
(3.,562,046) (3.562,946)
(1,409,722) {1,409,722)
(550,881) (550,881}
{23,206,837) (23,206,937)
- 158,331 158,331
. 158,331 158,331
(23,206,837) 5 158,331 S {23,04.8,606)
3,076,838 3,076,838
1,562,926 1,562,826
5,622,786 5,622,786
6,197,402 6,197,402
190,405 190,405
218,058 218,058
222,813 222,813
3,660,452 3,660,452
126,702 126,702
90,860 90,860
345,487 147,369 492 856
= 510,263 610,263
(4:10,640} 410,640 -
20,904,089 1,168,272 22,072,361
(2,302,848B) 1,326,603 [976,245)
118,022,018 31,523,334 148,546,252
115,720,070 S 32,849,037 5 148,570,007 -

Exhibit B



TOWN QF CHRISTIANSBLIRG

GOVERNMENTAL FLUNDS
BALANCE SHEET
AS OF JUNE 30, 2012

ASSELS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, reserved
Cash and Cash Equivalents, restricted
Invesimenis - shon-term
Receivables, net
Taxes, including penallies (nel of allowance of $45,107)
Accounis (nel of allowance of $58,340)
Prepaid ltlems
Due from Other Funds
Due irom Other Govemments
Total Assats

Liabilllies
Avcounts Payable
Salaries Payable
Due to Other Funds
Delerred Revenue
Tolal Liabilitics

Fund Balance
Nonspendable
Restricied
Committed
Asslgned
Unassigned
Total Fund Balance

Total Liabilities and Fund Balance

See accompanying notes to financlal statements,

Exhibit C

Total
Special Governmental

General Cemelary Revenue Funds
5 5.868,5i1 S 5 §  5.868.5!1
3,010,767 3.010.767
1,601,252 1.501.252
9.151.476 366,143 320,496 9.847.115
92,287 82,287
015,687 - 915,687
131,851 533 132,384
08,284 08,284
230,124 46,752 285,876
19,507,987 366.676 1,877,500 21,752,163
1,749,828 238 8.845 1,758,211
527,981 2,642 523 531,146
88,284 98.284
1,976 - 3.046 5.022
2,279,785 2,880 110,608 2.393.363
131.851 366,676 408,527
448,130 1.766.802 2.214.032
2,527,638 2.527.638
14,120,583 (2.880) - 14,117,703
17,228,202 363,706 1,766,802 19,358,800
§ 19,507,087 & 366,676 S 1.877.500 $ 21,752,163




TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Exhibi1 D

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET TO THE STATEMENT QF NET ASSETS

AS OF JUNE 30, 2012

Fund Balances-iclal governmenial funds & 19,358,800
Amounts repored for govemmental aclivities in the Stailement of Net Assets are different because:

The installment of the reat propeny taxes recelvable would notl be recognized for govemmenial
acllvitiss because It is not collectible within 45 days after year-end 2,151,838

Capilal assets used in governmental aclivities are not financial resources and thersiore are
nol reponed in the govemmenital lunds:

Governmental capiial assets 5 120,8€8,342
Less: accumulaled depreciation and amonlzation (22,250,277) 107.609.065

Compensaled absences are not dus and payabile in the current year and therefore are not
reported in the govemmental funds. (637.996G)

Landfill closure and posiclosure care cost are not due and payable in the curreh year
and therafore are not reporled in the governmental funds. {134.367)

Accrued merlusick pay (QPEB) are not due and payable in the current year and therelore are nol
repored In the governmental (unds, (255,106)

Interesi payable used In the governmental activilies are nol payable [rom currenl resources
and therelore are nol reponed in the govemmental lunds, (226,220)

Governmenial funds report the elfect of bond premiums when debi is litst issued, whereas these
amounts are deferred and amortized in the Statement of Activities and reported as a long-term
llabllity on the Slatement of Nel Assots. 160,734)

Long-term lizbilities are not due and payable in the current year and therefore are nol reported
in the governmental funds:

2007 Revenue Bond (1,710,000}

2004 Revenue Bond (9,595,000)

1995 General Obllgation Note (780,000} {12,085,000)
Net Assets of Govemnmental Acitvitles 5 115,720,070

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBLURG

GOVERNMENTAL FUINDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012

Revenues:
Taxes:
Propeny
Sales
Prepared Meal
Other
Permits, Privilege Fees and Regulalory Licenses
Fines and Forleitures
Revenues [rom Use of Properny
Invesimen Eamings
Charges [or Services
Intergovernimenial
Cemelery
Other
Total Revenuss

Expenditures:
Generat Govemmen Acministration
Public Safsty
Public Works
Healih and Welfare
Parks, Recrealion and Culiure
Community Development
Caplial Qutlay
Debt Service:
Principal Retirement
Interest and Fiscal Charges
Tolal Expenditures -

Excess of Revenues over Expenditures

Other Financing Sources {Usas);
Insurance Recoveries
Translers (10} rom: ,
‘water and Sewer Fund
Special Revenue Fund
Cemelery Fund
Total Other Financing Sources {Uses)

Nel Changes in Fund Balance

Fund Balance, .fuly t, 2011
Fund Balance. June 30, 2012

See accompanying notes to financlal statements.

Exhibit E

Total
Special Govemmenial
General Cemetery Revenue Funds

S 3,065,660 3 5 3.085.6869
1,562,026 1,562,926
5,622,786 5.622.786
6,187,402 6.197.402
190,405 190,405
126,702 126,702
218,058 218,058
195,346 6.029 20,538 222,813
2.433,38l 62,855 2.4B6,336
3.802,224 1,004,525 4,806,749
27,005 27,905

223.900 500 118,758 343,167
23.638,808 98,289 1.143.821 24,880,018
1,855,373 1.855.373
7.052,040 524,916 7.577.856
4,850,519 4,859,519
3.193 3,193
3,560,778 137,641 3.707.420
1,276,007 1,276,807
1,792,966 8.623 935,535 2,738.[z4
550,000 - 550.000
561,175 - - 561,175
21,521,852 146,264 1.461.451 23.120.567
2,116,956 (47,975) (317.630) 1,751,351
2.321 2.321
(226,084) {226,084

(58,097) 58,097

(52.557) 52,557 -
(334.417) 52,557 58.097 (223,763)
1,782,539 4,582 (259,533) 1,527,588
15,445,663 350.214 2,026.335 17,831,212
5 17,228,202 363,706 5 1.766,802 5 19,358.800




TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Exhibil F

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUND TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2Q12

Net Change in Fund Balances - 10tal govermnmental (und 5 1,527,588
Amounts reponed [or governmenial aclivilies in the Staternen! of Activities are dilierent because:

Revenues in the Stalement of Activities thal do not provide current financial resources are not
reporied as revenues in the funds:

Change In 1axes raceivable 11,169

Govemnmmental funds repor capital oullays as expenditures. However, in the Stalement of
Activilies, the cost of those assels is deprectaled over (heir estimaled useful lives:

Expendilures for capital assets 5 1,263,953
Less: current year depreciation (5,321,530 (4.057.579
Governmenial funds report an increase in compensaied absences as an expenditure.
Howaever, in the Stalement of Netl Assets the addition increases long-term liabilities. {71.245)

Governmental funds repor the decrease in post closure care costs as an expendliure.
Howsever, In the Stalement of Nel Assets the reduciions reduce long-lerm liabilities. 8,216

Govemmenial funds report repaymeni of bond principal as an expendiiure. Hovsever, In the
Stalement of Net Assets the repayment reduces long-ierm liabilities. 550.000

Gevemmental [unds repon premiums on bonds as other (inancing sources and uses. However,
In the Stalement of Nel Assets these bonds are reported as a long-term liability, 4,049

Govemmeniai [unds do not Include amortization as an expendilure. However, bond 1ssus cosls
are capilalized and amorlized over the lile of the bond on the Stalement of Revenueas,
Expendilures and Changes in Fund Balances.
current year amorlzation (5.8094)

Accrued interest expense reported In the Slatement of Aclivilies does nol reguire the use of
currenl financial resources and is therefore not reporied as expendilures in govermnmental lunds. 10,294

Accrued merivsick pay (OPEB) in the Statement of Aclivilies does nol require the use of current
financial resources and Is therefore not reporied as expenditures in governmental funds. (94.890)

Transfer of projeci in progress during prior fiscal year 10 the Enierprise Fund, The projucl was
reported as an expenditure in the Special Revenue Fund In the prior year and Is now reported

as a capilalized assel in the Enlerpiise Fund. {184.5506)
Change in Net Assels of Governmental Activilies S _(2.302.848)

See accompanying notes (o financial statements.
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSELIRG

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND (modificd accrual basis of accounting)

YEAR NE 2012

Revenues (inllows):
Guneral Property Taxes
Consumer Utillty Taxes
Business License Taxes
Franchise License Taxes
Motor veohicle Licenses
Bank Franchise Taxes
Transient Lodging Taxes
Prepared Meal Tax
Clgareite Tax
Building and Zoning Fees
Courl and Parking Flnes
Interest
Renals and Sale of Surplus liems
Solid wasle Service
DPR Fees and Cantributions
Miscetlaneous
Non-Categorical
Stale Jiid (ABC), ete.
Sales Tax
DJCP Grants
Emergency Service Grants
Sirect Meinlienance Payments
Liner Control Grant
Law Enfarcement Funds
National Guard Armory
Non-Revenue Recelpts
Toial Revenues

Expendilures {Outllows):
Current:
General Government Admlinissration
Police Department
Volunteer Fire Department
Lifesaving and Rescue
Inspections
Streel Deparlment
Solid Wasc Service
Building and Grounds
National Guard Armory
Municipal Building
Municipal Shop
welfare/Social Services
Parks and Recreation
Adquatlc Cener
Library
Planning/Community Devuicoment
Engineering
Debi Service
Total Expenditures
Excess of revenues over expenditures

Other {inancing (sources) uses:
“Transfers
Tolal other financing {sources) uses

Nei change In (und balances
Fund balance at beginning of year

Fund balance al end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Exhilil G

Variance wilh

Final Budges -
Budgeled Amounts Pasitive
Original Final Aciual (Negalive)
2,024,750 S 2,924,750 5 3,065,630 40,919
526,000 526,000 505.666 {20.334)
1,864,000 1,864,000 2,030,444 166,444
166,200 166,200 151.668 {14.332)
465,000 465,000 460,334 {4.666)
490,000 490,000 567.766 77.766
841,800 841,800 919,744 77.944
5,630,000 5,630,000 5,622,786 (7.214)
750,000 750,00G 630.371 (119,629}
209,000 209,000 190,405 {18,595)
103,000 103,000 126,702 23,702
166,000 166,000 195,346 29,346
226,000 228,000 218,058 {7.942)
1,330,000 1,339,000 1,431,840 92,840
1,047,708 1,047,708 1,010,445 (37,263)
188,050 168,050 215,005 46,955
1,324,500 1,324,500 1,303,742 {20,758)
1,600,000 1,600,000 1.562,926 {37.074)
. 5,807 5.907
46,000 46,000 56,247 10.247
2,833,500 2,833,500 2,838,503 105,093
9,324 9.324
416,700 416,700 416,572 (128)
3.000 3,000 3,248 248
30,000 30,000 2,321 {27.679)
23,170,208 23,170,208 23,641,120 470,021
2,385,178 2,389,178 2.066,980 {322,198)
5,771,216 5,771,216 5,632,724 {138,492)
1II8,526 1,118,526 922,387 (196,139}
889,733 889,733 814,457 (75,276}
317.128 317,128 309,760 (7,368)
4,861,607 4,861,607 4,069,141 (762,466)
1,282,416 1,292,416 1.1B6.605 {105.811)
118,064 118.064 83,894 {24.170)
29,532 29,532 13,428 (16.104)
106,839 108,839 85,238 {11,801
203,032 203,032 177,703 (25,329)
3,193 3,183 3,193
2,062,814 2,062,814 1,707,790 (355,024)
1,923,762 1.923,762 1,870,269 46,507
15,000 15,000 15,000
660,597 660,597 585370 (75,227}
708,193 708,193 718,738 8,545
1111175 1,111,175 1,111,i75 -
23,582,005 23,582,005 21,521,852 (2,060,153)
(411,797) (411, 797) 2,118,277 {2,531.074}
802,755 602,755 336.738 266,017
602,755 602,735 336,738 266,017
{1.014,552) {1.014.552) 1,782,539 2,757,091
15,662,910 S 15,758,821 5 15,445,663
14,648,358 5 14,745,269 S 17,228,202 2,797,08]
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Exhibi1 G

(coniinued)
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND (modified accrual basls of accounling)
JEAR ED JUNE 30, 2012

Explanalion of Differences belwcen Budgelary Inflows and Outflows and GAAP Revenues and Expenditures:
Sources/Anilows of Resources:

Aciual amount of Molal revenues” [rom the budgetary comparison

Statement, i -] 23,641,129
Insurance recoveries are inflows ol budgetary resources but are not

revenues for (inancial reporting purposes (Exhlbit E). (2,321)
Total general [und revenues as reparted on the slalement of revenues, expenditures, and changes

In fund balances (Exhibll E), 5 23,638,808

Uses/Oulllows of Resources:

Actual amount of "other financlng (sources) uges” from (he budgetary

comparson statement, $ 336,738
Inswrance recoveries are inllows of budgetary resources but are not

revenues for financial reporting purposes (Exhibii E). 2,321)
Total general fund "other (inancing sources and uses" as reporied on the staiement of revenues,

expenditures, and changes in (und balances (Exhibit E), S 334.417

See accompanying notfes to financial statements.



TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

PROPRIETARY FUND
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
AS OF JUNE 30, 2012

Assets

Current Assets:
Accounts Receivable (Net of Allowance for
Uncollectible Accounts of $177,525)
Prepaid ltems
Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets:
Water System
Equipment
waste Watet System
Waste Water Treaiment Plant
Less: Allowance for Depreciation
Total Non-Current Assets

Total Assets
Liabilities

Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable
Accrued General Obligation Bond Interest
Consumer Deposits
Due to Water Authority
Current Maturities VA Revolving Loan Fund
Salaries Payable
Compensated Absences
Total Current Liabilities

Long-Term Liabilities:
VA Revolving Loan Fund
Total Long-Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Net Assets |
Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Deht
Unrestricted Assets

Total Net Assets

See accompanying notes to financial stareménts.
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Exhibit H

Business-type
Activities -

- Enterprise Fund

Water and Sewer
Fund

5 1,058,006
23,949

1,082,045

12,461,519
3,473,850
17,673,902
32,157,774
(26,335,684)

36,431,361

40,513,406

1,420
68,425
321,499
424,500
704,508
56,250
112,845

1,689,627

5.973,842

5,873,842

7,663,469

32,752,921
97.016

§ 32,840,937




TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

PROPRIETARY FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012

Operating Revenues:
Charges ior Services:
wWater and Sewer Service Fees
Water and Wastewater Connection Fees
Penalties and Other
Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:

Salaries and Wages

Employee Benefits

Water Authority Purchases

Utilities

Repairs and Maintenance

Depreciation and Amortization

Materials and Supplies

General and Administrative
Total Operating Expenses

Operating Income (Loss)
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
interest and Fiscal Charges
Total Nonoperating Revenues (EXpenscs)

Income (loss) before contributions and transfers

Capital . Contributions
Transfers In (Ouf)

Change in Net Assets

Net Assets, July !, 2011
Net Assets, June 30, 2012

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Exhibit 1

Business-type
Activities -
Enterprise Fund

Wwater and Sewer
Fund

5 6,265,568
347,839
147,368

6,760,875

1,575,967
240,684
1,469,252
272,363
228,393
1611172
562,506
247,278

6,207,615

553,260

(247,560)

(247,560)

305,700

794,819
226,084

1,326,603

31,623,334

3 32,840,937




TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

PROPRIETARY FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30. 2012

Cash Flows from Operaling Activities
Cash Received From:
Customers
Cash Paid tofor:
Employvees
Supplies and Services
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activitics
Transfer from General Fund
Interfund borrowing

Net Cash Fiows frorm Non-Capital Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Payment of Principal
Interest on Debt
Purchase of Fixed Assets

Net Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Nonhe
Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, July 1, 2011
Cash and Cash Equivalents, June 30, 2012

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash Flows

From Operating Aclivities:

Operating Income (Loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (0ss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and Amortization
Change in Current Assets and Current Liabilities
(Increase) Decrease in Current Assets:
Accounts Receivable
Prepaid items
Accounts Payable
Due to Water Authority
Consumer Deposits
Compensated Absences
Salaries Payable
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Noncash Investing, Capital, and Financing Activities:
Contributed Capital - Grants in Aid of Construction

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Exhibit J

Enterprise Fund

water & Sewer
Fund

5 6,702,729

(1,740,284
{2,781,808)

2,171,636

226,084
(44.078)

182,006

(680,252)
(254,109}
{4,419,28])

(2,353.642)

s 553,258

1,611,172

{75.665)
(23.793)
74
21,704
17,518
11,117
56,250

5 2,171,636

$ 794,819



TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBLIRG

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012

i,

Summary of Signiflcant Accounting Policies

A

The Financlal Reporting Entity

The Town of Christiansburg, Virginia (the "Town") operates on @ Councl-Manager form of govemment and provides municipal
services to lis residents including fire and police protection, planning, engineering, inspections, public works and public
utilities, parks, and general govemment. The Town also provides water, sewer, refuse collection, and public transit services o
its citizens, The Town Is the county seat of Montgomery County and has taxing powers subject to state-wide restrictions and
limits. The financial statements present the Town as the primary govemnment. A component unit is an entity for which the
Town Is considered to be financlally accountable. The Town does not have any component units.

For financlal reporting purposes, in conformance with GASB Staiement 14, Defining the Gouernmenial Reporting Emity, the
Town Includes all funds, account groups, agencies, boards, commissions, and authorities that are controlled by or dependent
upon the Town Council. Control by, or dependence upon, the Town Councll was determined on the basis of the following:

I. The Town's abllity e designate the management or significantly conirol the operations of the entity.

2. The Town's responsibility for the fiscal matiers of the entity, including the authorization of budgetary appropriations,
funding of operating deficiencies, control or use of surplus funds, responsibility for debts, and conirol over the callections
and disbursement of funds,

3. The scope of public services rendered by and the geographic location of the entity.

Based on the foregoing criteria, the financlal activities of no other organtzations are Included in the accompanying financial
statements.

The following entliles are excluded from the accompanylng financial statements:

Jointly Governed Qrganlzattons:
Blacksburg-Christiansburg-vPl Water Authority

The Blacksburg-Christiansburg-vPl Water Authority was created by a concurrent resclution of the Town and other
particlpating governing bodies, The Authority operales and maintatns a water supply sysiem for the Town, Virginia Tech,
and the Town of Blacksburg." Each goveming body appoints one member of the five-member board of directors. Two al-
targe members are appointed by joint resolution of each of the member localitles. All indebtedness is payable solely from
the revenues of the water system. Although the Town is one of the Authority’s customers, the Town has no obligation far
any of its indebtedness. During fiscal year 2012, the Town paid 51,448,992 10 the water authority and has a fiscal year end
liability of $424,590 for purchases of water.

Montgomery Regional Solid Wasle Authority

The Town is a member of the Montgomery Regional Solid Waste Authority (MRSWA), which was created by a joint
resolution on December 14, 1994 by the Town of Blacksburg, Virginia, the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia, Monigomery
County, Virginia, and Virginla Tech. The Authority is governed by a flve-member board whereby the governing body of
each member jurlsdictton appeints one boafd member, and all jurlsdictions jointly appoint a fifth inember. The ALthority,
which began operation in August 1995, operates a sanitary landfill and recycling facllity. Each jurisdiction provides
collection of solid waste and recyclables from within Its jurlsdiction and delivers the collected materlals to the Authority for
disposal of waste in the landfill, and processing and marketing of the recyclables. All Authority operations are financed by
tipping fees and the individual jurisdictions are not liable for the debt of the Authorlty. The MRSWA has negotiated with an
adjacent Authority (New River Resource Authority) for shared use of a new permitted landfill. The Town paid $426,220 in
tlpping fees during fiscal year 2012,

Virginia Tech-Montgomery Regional Airport Authorlty

The Virglnia Tech-Moritgomery Regional Airport Authority (the *Alrport Authorlty™) was created by concurrent resojutions of
the goveming bodies of the Town of Blacksburg, Virginia, Town of Christiansburg, Virginia, Montgomery County, Virginia,
and Virginia Tech. The Authonty ts govemned by a five-member board whereby the goveming body of each member
Jurlsdiction appoinis one board member, and all jurisdictions jointly appolnt a fifth member. The Alrport Authority utilizes
revenues generated by the alrport and coniributions by the members to fund all airport activities. The Alrport Authority has
bonded indebtedness. All indebtedness of the Authority is payable selety from its revenues and is not an obligation of the
Town. During fiscal year 2012, the Town paid 550,000 foward the operations of the alrport.

Blacksburg/Christiansburg/Montgomery Area Metropolitan Plarmning Organization

The Town Is a member of the Blacksburg/Christtansburg/Montgomery Area Metropolitan Planning Organization. The
Metropolltan Planning Organlzation (MPO) is a transporiation policy-making organization serving the Bilacksburg,
Christiansburg, and Montgomery area.-The MPO pravides the information, tools, and public input necessary to Improve the
performance of the transportation system of the region. Future transportation needs are addressed, giving consideration 1o
all possible strategies and the community's vision, The Town has three members within this organization, two of which
are voting members. During ilscal year 2012, the Town pald $8,13] toward operations of the MPO.
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R THE YEAR ENDED C 30, 2012

F

Al

The Financial Reporting Entity (continued)
New River Valley Emergency Communicalions Regional Authoriiy

The Town s a member of the New River valley Emergency Communications Reglonal Authority (the "Communications
Authorlty”). The Communications Authority 1s a regional parinership, sening the County of Montgomery, the Towns of
Blacksburg and Christiansburg, and Virginia Tech. The Communications Authority will provide quality and reliable 913
dispatch and emergency communitcation services 10 the community and agencies In these localities. The Town has one
member on the Board of this organization. During flscal year 2012, the Town paid $55.000 oward operations of the
Communications Authority.

Financial Statement Presentation

In February 2008, Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and
Governmental Fund Type Definitions. - The objective of GASB Statement No. 54 is 1o enhance the usefulness of fund balance
information by providing clearer fund balance classitications that can be mors consistently applied and by clarifying the
existing govemmental fund fype definitions. Beginning with year end June 30, 2011, fund balance Is displayed in accordance
with GASB No. 54 using the following classifications:

1} Nonspendabile fund balance - Inventeries, prepaid items, accounts recelvable and other current assets that are consumed
in the course of operations that cannot be converted to cash or are not expected to be available to pay current llabilities.
This classification includes funds set aside for perpetual care of the cemetery.

2} Restricted fund balance - The resources of a governmental fund that are subject o constraints imposed by external parties
or law. These restrictions Include such things as debt covenants' or constraints imposed by legislation or federal and srate
agencies on the use of intergovernmental revenue, such as grants and contracts.

3) Commiited fund balance - Represents amounts that have been designated by Tov'n Council resolution or by town
ordinance. These funds may onty be spent for the purpose intended by the resolution or ordinance and can only be
uncommitted by the same action taken 10 commit the funds.

4) Assigned fund balance - Represents the net resources of governmenial funds that the government intends for a specific
purpose. Assigned resources do not require formal action of the govemning body. The permanent fund's net resources
would be assigned fund balance as well as any net resources remaining in the spectal revenue funds.

5) Unassigned fund bulance - Represents funds avallable for any purpose and represents expendabie financial resources
that can be used to meet contingencies and cash flow requirements,

Expenditures shall be charged first to restricted fund balance, second 1o committed fund balance, third to assigned fung
balance and finally to unassigned fund balance as appropriate for the expenditure and to the fund being expended.

The Town Manager, in consultation with the Director of Finance and Town Councll, shall determine funds tc be classified
as assigned.

Except in extraordinary circumstances, unassigned fund balance will not be used to fund any poriion of the ongoing and
routine operating expenditures of the Town, Unassigned funds are to be used primarily to insure adequate reserves, to
respond to unforeseen emergencies, to provide cash flow, and to provide overall financial stability.

In June 1999, Govemnmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Issued Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements - and
Managemnent's Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Govemments.. GASB Statement No. 34 established new
requirements and a new reporting modeti for the annual financiai reports of state and local govemments. GASE Stalement
No. 34 was developed fo make annual reports sasler to understand and more useful 1o people who uge governmental
financial information to make decisions. GASB Statemeni No. 34 includes:

Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) - MD&A Introduces the basic financial statements and provides an analytical
overview of the government's financial activities in a narrative formal. An analysis of the government's overall financial
position and results of operations is included to assist users in assessing whether financial position has improved or
deteriorated as a result of the years activities.

Government-Wide Financial Statements - Present financial staiements prepared using the economic resources measurement
focus and full accrual accounting for all of the government's activities, These smtements will include all assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses of the primary government.

The Town does not allocate indireci expenses. The govemment-wide statements segregate governmental activities, which
are normally supported by taxes and Intergovernmental revenues, and business-type activities, which rely on user fees and
charges for support.
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R THE YEAR EN NE. 30, 2012

F

I

Summary of Significant Accounting Folicies (continued)

B.

Financial Stailement Presentation (continued)

Sialement of Nef Assels - Presenis both governmental and business-ype activities on the full accrual, economic resource
basis, which incorporates long-term assets and receivables, as well as long-term debt and obligations.

Siatement of Aclivilies - Presents the net cost of each individual function. Program revenues are presenied as a reduction of
the toral cost of providing program services. Program revenues inciude charges for services, operating grants and
contributions and capital grants that are directly associated with a specific function. Taxes and other revenue sources not
reported as program revenue are included as general revenue,

Fund Financial Statements - These financlal statements present information on major governmental and enterprise funds.

The accounts are organized on the basis of fund classification, each of which is considered to be a separale accounting
entity. The operation of each fund Is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its
assels, liabilities, fund balances or net assets, revenues, and expendilures Or @xpenses, as appropriate.

Government resources are aliocated to and ac&:oumed for in Individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to
be spent and the means by which spending activitles are controlled. The various funds are grouped in the basic financial

statements as follows:

Govemnmental Funds - accounts for expendable financlal resources, other than proprietary fund types. Governmental fund
types use the flow of current firfiancial resources measurement focus. The major governmental funds consists of:

General Fund - The  General Fund is the major operating fund of the Town. Al unrestricted resources, except those
required to be accounted for In another fund, are accounted for in this fund. The general operating expenses and fixed
charges are paid from this fund. .

Special Revenue Fund - This fund is used to account for the proceeds of speclfic revenue sources that are legally
restricted by contract or donor 1o expenditure for a specified purpose,

Proprietary Fund - accounts for operations that are financed and operated in a manner simllar to private business entetprises.
The proprietary fund measurement focus is on the flow of economic resources. Operating revenues include charges for
services and other revenue. Operating expenses include personal services, as well as other services and charges, matetials
and supplies and depreciation, The proprietary fund type is:

Enterprise Fund - Finances and accounts for the acquisltion, operation, and maintenance of governmenital facilities and
services that are supported by user charges. The operations of water and sewer facililies are accounted for and reporied

in the Water and Sewer Fund,

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financial Reporiing
for Proprietary Funds and Other Gouernmental Entities Thal Use Proprietany Fund Accouniing, the Town has elected to apply
only applicable FASE Statements and Interpretations issued on or before November 30, 1989 that do not contradict GASB
pronouncements in s accounting and reporting practices for Its proprietary operations.

Permanent Fund - Permanent funds are used to report resources that are legally resiricied to the extent that only eamings, not
principal, may be used for purposes that suppott the reporting govermnment's programs.

Cemetery fund - This fund is used to account for the operations of the cemetery and the perpstual care funds and related
Interest income.  The interest portion of the trust can be used to mainiain the communit cemetery. On April 1, 2008 the
Town took over control of the Town's cemetery from the Cemetery Corporation. The Town funds a pottion of the
operational cosis of the cemetery each year. For the year ended June 30, 2012 the operational support tofaled $52,557.

Budge! and Actual Comparison Stalement - This stalement is presented to demonstrate whether resources were obtained
and used in accordance with the government's legally adopted budget. The Town may revise the original budget over the
course of the year for various reasons. Budgetary information continues to be provided, and Includes a comparison of the
government's original adopied budget 1o the current comparison of final budget and actual results.

Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting refers 1o the point at which revenues and expenditures or expenses are recognized in the accounts and
reported In the financial statements, Basis of accounting relates to the fiming of the measurements made, regardiess of the

measurement focus applied.

Governmenial activities in the government-wide statements are presented using the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements. Revenues are recognized when earned
and expenses are recognized when a kabllity has been incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
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1

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {continued)

C.

Basis of Accounting {continued)

Governmental funds are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when they
become measurable and available. General fund tax revenues are considered measurable when they have been levied. To
be considered available, and thus susceptible 1o accrual, the taxes must be collected within the Town's period of avaitability
of 45 days from the end of the current fiscal period. Uncollecied taxes a1 the end of this period are reported as deferred
revenues. Interest income and intergovernmenial recelvables are considered susceptibie 1o accrual, Expenditures are
generally recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting when the related fund liability 1s incurred, However,
debt service expenditures as well as expenditures related to compensated absences are recorded only when payment Is

due,

As a result of the different measurement focus and basls of accounting used in preparing the government-wide statements, a
reconciliation between the government-wide and fund financial statements is necessary, Exhibit D presents reconciliation of
the net assets as reported on the Statement of Net Assets (Exhibit A) to total governmental fund balance as reported on the
Balance Sheet - Governmental Fund {Exhibit C). Exhlblt F presents a reconclliation of change In net assets as reported on the
Statement of Activities (Exhibit B) and the total changes In fund balance as reported on the Statemen: of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Fund (Exhibit E).

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash eqguivalents include cash on hand, certificates of deposit, dgemand deposlts, and shori-term investments with
original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition,

Investments
Investments are stated at fair value.,

Allowance for Uncollectible Taxes and Accounts Recelvable

The Town calculates its allowance for uncoilectible receivabies based on historical collection data. At June 30, 2012, the
allowances for uncollectible taxss and accounts receivable were $i04.448 for the General Fund and $177.525 for the

Enterprise Fund.

Property Taxes

Property taxes are assessed at their value on January 1. Real estate tax is payable In one Installment on December 5. On
Januany' 1, real property 1axes become an enforceable lien against the property, Personal property tax Is due on or before
December 5 during the year of assessment. The Town bills and collects taxes and recognlzes revenue upon levy for
government-wide purposes. For the fund financial stalements, the Town recognizes revenue 1o the extent that i results in

current receivables,

The annual assessment for real estate is based on 100% of the assessed fair market value. The tax rates are established
annually, without imitation. The tax rate for real esiate was 5.1126 per SI00 of assessed value for the year. The personat
property tax rate was $.444 per $100 of assessed value for the year. In 1098, the Commonwealth enacted the Personal
Property Tax Relief Acl. The Commonwealth share of the tax was 60% for fiscal year 2012. Buslness furniture. fixtures, and
machinery and tools taxes are assessed af a rate of $.444 per 5100 of assessed valuation.

Deferred Revenues

Deferred revenue consists primarlly of grant awards recelved during the fiscal year but not recognized as revenue due to the
full award not being expended as of June 30, 2012,

‘Caplial Assets

Capital assets acquired or construcied by the Town with a value in excess of $5.000 are reported in the applicable
govemmenial or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financia! sralements, Caplial assels belonging to
the proprietary fund are also reported in the applicable func financial statements. Capital assets are recorded at historical
cost or estimated historical cost If purchased or construcied. Donated capltal assets are recorded ar fair market value when
received. Depreciation is recorded on a stralghtline basis over the estimated useful life of each capltal asset. No
depreciation expense is recorded for land, construction-in-progress, or streets and highways.

The estimaied useful ltves for capital asseis are as follows:

Land Improvements 15 years
Buliding and Improvements 25-50 years
Equipment and Vehicles 5-20 years
Infrastructure 1540 years

In accordance with GASB Staternent No, 34, the Town's Infrastructure has been capiltelized, retroactivaly, upon adoption of
the standard:
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L

summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

L

Capital Assets (continued)

The costs of normal maintenance and repalrs thar do not add to the value of .the asset or materially extend assels lives are
not capitalized.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. Interest incurred during the
construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of the capitalized value of the assets
construcied. Na interest expense was capitalized during the current year.

Estimates

Management uses estimates and assumptions in preparing Its financial siatemenis, Those estimates and assumptions affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities, and reported revenues, exzpenditures,
and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Long-term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types In the fund financlal siatements, long-term debt and
other long-term obligations are reported as llabilities in the applicable gov'emmental acllvities, business-type activities, or
proprietary fund-type statement of net assets. Bond premlums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and
amortized over the life of the bonds using the effectlve Interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable
bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are reported as deferred charges and amortized over the term of the related

debt.

Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

The Town adheres to the following procedures In establishing the budgetary data reflected In the Budgel and Aciual
Comparison Statement (Exhibit G):

a. The Town Manager, In coordination with the Finance Committee, prepares the budget and the Finance Commitiee
presents it to the Town Council,

b. Legal notice of the public hearing is published in the newspaper at least 10 days prior to the hearing. Notice contains
information as to date, place, and time, and soliclts cliizen auiendance or writien comments at the hearing with a synopsis
of the budget,

¢. The public hearing Is held at least seven days (State Code 15.1-162 as amended) prior to approval of the budget.

d. Budget is approved ar least seven days after public hearing, and no later than the beginning of the new fiscal year,
Council sets tax rates for real estare and personal property.

e. Notice of budget adoption and availabillty for viewing of adopted budget is published in a local newspaper one time,
within thirty (30) days of adoption.

f. The budget basis is adopted In accordance with the modified accrual basis of accounting.

Compensated Absences

It is the Town's policy to permit employses to accurnulate earmned but unused compensated absences. For government-wide
reporting, a liability is recorded for compensated absences when services are rendered and employees have earned the right
1o receive compensation for such services,

Town employees eamn vacatlon and sick leave as follows:

Vacation:
» Twelve days per year for less than flve full years of service
= Fifieen days per year for more than five but less than ten full years of service
* Elghteen days per year for ten full vears or more of service

Sick leave:
* One and one-fourth days per month with unlimited accrual

Accumutated vacation leave is pald upon termination with a maximum accumulation of 32 days. All sick leave ts forfelied
upon termination unless termination is deemed a retirement in accordance with VRS. Afier five years of employment and
retirement from the Town the employee may receive full or partial payout of their sick leave, subject to limitations.
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2. Compensated Absances

The Town's liability at June 30, 2012 for these compensated absences was:

current ‘Long-Term
Portion Portion Total
General Fund 5 63,800 & 574,196 § 637,896

Liabiliies for compensated absences are not liquidated until leave is actually taken by employees or leave balances are paid
upon termination. The Town has estimated that 10% of the compensated absences balance can be ligquicated with
expendable available resources, and are considered a current liability, Both current and non-current portions of compensated
absences totaling $566,752 are recorded for governmental activities In the government-wide staiemenis and represent a
reconclling item between the government-wide and fung presentations.

Compensated absences eamed by employees and charged to the proprietary fund are expensed and accrued as a liability
when incurred.  At.June 30, 2012, the liabiliies for compensaied absences of the enierprise fund were $112.845,

3. Deposits and Investments

Deposits

Deposits with banks are covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporaiion (FDIC) and collateralized in accordance with
the Virginia Security for Public Deposits Act (the "Act") Section 2.2-4400 et. seq. of the Code of Virginla. Under the Act, banks
and savings institutions holding public deposits In excess of the amount Insured by the FDIC must pledge collaieral to-the
Commonwealth of Virginia Treasury Board. Financiat Institutions may choose between two collateralization methodclogies
and depending upon that choice, will pledge collateral that ranges in the amounts from 50% 1o 130% of excess deposits.
Accordingly, all deposlts are considered fully collateralized.

At year end, the carrying value of the Town's deposits with banks and savings institutions was $20,745,870. Of the Town's
bank balances, $20,745,870 was covered by Federal deposliory insurance or coliateralized as required by the Virginia
Security for Public Deposit Accounts,

Investments

Town and State statute (Code of Virdinia, Chapter 3, Title 26) authorize local governments and other public bodles to invest in
obligations of the United States or agencies thereof, obtigations of the Commonwealth of Virginia or political subdivisions
thereof, obligations of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Developmeni {World Bank). the Asian Development Bank,
the African Development Bank, "prime quality commercial paper and certain corporate notes; bankers' acceptances,
repurchase agreements anad the State Treasurers Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP).

The Town currently Invests it funds only in banks located within the Town of Christiansburg and Inestmenis are limited to
certificates of deposi and money market funds as summalized below:

Investment Type Falr value
Certlficates of Deposit 5 ©D,517619
Money Market $ 3,116,887

Total Investments 5 12,634,506

Specific risks for these investments are summarized below:
Credit Risk - Funds are deposited with tocat banks in good standing.

Concentrations of Credit Risk - Town policy does not set a limit on the amount that may be invesied in any single
institution but invesiments and deposits are monitored for such risks.

inlerest Rale Risk- As a means of imiting exposure 1o falr value losses resulting from increasing or decreasing Inierest
rates, maturities and other accounts are monitored and rebid for possible improvement in rates.
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4. Receivables

Receivables as of June 30, 2012 consisted of the foliowing:

Govemmentai Activities:

Special
Receivables General Revenue Totals
Taxes S 2,332,843 S - § 2,332,843
Due from Government 239,124 46,752 285,876 .
Accounts 975,027 - 975,027
Gross Recelvables 3,547,095 46,752 3,583,847
Less: allowance for Doubtiul Accounts {148,359 - (148,359)
Receivables, net 5 3398736 5 46,752 § 3,445,488

Business-type Activities:

Recelvables Wwaler & Sewer
Accounts 1,235,621
Less: Allowance for Doubtiul Accounts (177.525)

Receivables, net 5 1,058,096

The taxes receivable account is largely comprised of the current and prior five years of uncollected tax levies for personal
property, and the current and past nineteen years of uncollected real estate 1ax tevies, The collectability of these accounts
has been considered in the allowance for uncollectible accounts,

5. Imterfund Receivables, Payables and Transfers

Interfund transfers consist of the following at June 30, 20!2:
Transfers in:

Special Permanent
Water & Sewer Revenue {Cemeteary)
Fund Fund Fund
Transfer qgut:
General Fund s 226,084 5 58,097 5 52,557
Amounts due from/tc other funds consist of the following at June 30, 2012:
Due from:
Special
water & Sewer Revenue General
Fund Fund Fund
Due to:
General Fund L - 5 98,284 §

The primary purpose of the due from/to amounts is as follows:
- Amounts due to the general fund represent short-term interfund advances for operating or capital needs.
6. Due from Other Govemmental Units

Amounts due from other governmenital units at June 30, 2012 are as follows:
Govemmental

Activities
Federal grants - direct s
Commonwealth of Virginia grants 46,752
{includes federal pass-through awards)
Other;
Sales tax 239,124
5 285876
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7. Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the year énded June 30, 2012 was as follows:

Govemmental Activities

Capital Assels, not depreciated:

Land
Construction in Progress
Total Capital Assets, not depreclated

Capltal Assets, depreciated:

Buildings and Structures
Accumulated Depreciation
Net Bulldings and Structures

Infrastructure
Accumulated Depreclation
Net Infrastructure

Machinery and Equipment
Accumulated Depreciation
Net Machinery and Equipment

Land Improvements
Accumulated Depreciation
Net Land Improvements

Vehicles
Accumulated Depreciation
Net vehicles

Streets and Highways
Accumulated Depreciation
Net Streets and Highways

Bond Issue Cost
Accumulated Amortlzation
Net Bond Issue Cost

Total Capital Assets Being Depreclated
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
and Amortization
Net Total Capital Assets, depreciated

Governmental Activities, Capital Assets, Net

Business-tvpe Actlvities

Capital Assets, not depreclared:
Land

Total Capital Assets, nat depreciated

Capital Assets, depreciated:

water Sy'stem
Water and Waste Water Equipment
waste water System ]
Waste Waier Treatment Plant
Total Capital Assets, Depreciated
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Net Total Capital Assets, depreciated

Business-type Activities, Capltal Assets, Net

Depreciation and Amonization expense were charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:

Balance Balance
July 1, 2011 Increases Decreases  Jjune 30, 2012
5 2,664,002 5 34,536 § - 2,598,628
413,007 03,925 (1D9,623) 308,209
3,077,099 128,46 (199,623) 3,008,837
28,422,138 285,258 - 28,707,396
(2,468,582) {587.835) - (3,056,417}
25,053,556 {302,577) 25,650,979
3,134,120 185,217 - 3,319,337
(1,879,527) {74,585) - (2,054,112)
1,154,593 110,632 - 1,265,225
12,444 10] 331,131 12,775,232
(9,712,727) (452,758) - {10,165,485)
2,731,374 (121,627) - 2,600,747
2,257,917 . - 2,257,917
(304,558} (150,528) - (545,086)
1,863,359 (150,528) 1,712,831
2,880,686 348,951 - 3,238,637
{2.320,657) (237.367) - (2,558,024}
569,029 111,584 680,613
76,360,171 - 76,369,171
- (3,818.459) - (3.818,459)
76,369,17! {3.818,459) 72,550,712
176,814 . - 176,814
(38,801 {5,.894) (44,695)
138,013 (5,804} - 132,119
125,693,947 1,150,557 126,844,504
(16,014,852} {5,327,425) (22,242 277)
108,779,005 (4,176,868) - 104,602,227
§ 111857004 $ (4,048,407) S {199,623) S107.608,064

Balance Balance
July |, 201] Increases Decreases  June 30, 2012
S 12,500 & - 5 S 12,500
12,500 12,500
11,786,437 675,082 12,461,519
3,338,231 135,620 3,473,851
17,005,289 668,613 17,673,902
31,410,488 734,786 32,145,274
63,540,445 2,214,101 - 65,754,546
(24,724,511 {1,611,172) - [(26,335,683)
38,815,934 602,920 - 30,418,863
S 38,828,434 5 602,029 5 - $ 30,431,363
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7. Capital Assets (continued)

Governmental activities:

General Government Administration -] 79,746
Public Safety 445207
Public works 4,072,850
Parks, Recreation, and Culture 721.258
Community Development 8,275
S 5327425

Business-type activities:
Wwater and Sewer s 1,611,172

Amortization expense for bond issuance costs in the amount of $5,804 is included in the 1otal for Parks, Recreaticn, and
Culture,

8. Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents amounts for which asset recognition ctiteria have been met, but for which revenue recognition
criteria have not been met. Deferred revenue as reported in the govemmenial fund financlal statements at June 30, 20i2

consisted of the following:

Special General
Revenue Fund Fund
Grant revenue S 3,046 S
Prepaid Taxes -] 5 1,976

9. Long-Term Liabilities
Geneéral obligation notes are direct obligations and pledge the full falth and cradit of the Town. The charter of the Town of

Christiansburg limits the legal debt 10 10% of the assessed valuation of real estate within the Town limits. The Town's legal
debt margin at June 30, 2012 Is $190,277,130 (see Schedule 13 of Statistical Section),

The followlng is a summary of existing long-term liabilitles and the changes in those liabilities during the year:

Balance Balance
Govemmental Aclivities July |, 201) Additions Reductions  June 30, 2012
General Obligation Debt;
2007 Revenue Bond 5 1,780,000 § - 8 70,000 5 1,710,000
2004B Revenue Bond 9,840,000 - 245,000 9,595,000
1985 General Obligation Note 1,015,000 - 235,000 780,000
Total General Obligation Debt 12,635,000 - 550,000 12,085,000
Compensated Absences Payable from the
General Fund 566,752 71,244 - 637,906
Landfill Closure & Postciosure Care Cost 142,583 8,216 134,367
Bond Premiums 64,783 , 4,049 60,734
Merit'sick pay (OPEB) payabie 160,218 94,889 255,107
‘Total Governmental .activities, long-term debt: § 13,569,336 § 166,133 S 562,265 $ 13,173,204
Balance Balance
Business-type Actlvities July 1, 2011 Additlons Reductions  June 30, 2012
200] VA Revolving Loan Fund $ 6091486 § - 5 518,512 5 5,572,974
1998 VA Revoiving Loan Fund 1,267,206 - 161,740 1,105,466
Total 7,358,602 - 680,252 6,678,440
Compensated Absences Payable from the
Wwarter and Sewer Fund 101,728 1L17 - 112,845
Toial Business-Type Aclivities, long-term debt: §  7,460.420 S 1,17 s 680,252 § 6,701,285
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9. Long-Term Llabtliies (continued)
Long-term Liabllities of the Town af June 3¢, 2012 are comprised of_the foliowing issues:
511,185,000 revenue bond issued December 15, 2004, maturing annually with principal and

interest payable semi-annually through August 1, 2034; interest raie varies, currently at 4.00% . $ 0,595,000

51,970,000 revenue bond issued July 30, 2007, manuing annually with principal and interest

payable semi-annually through August 1, 2027; interest rate varies, currently al 4.50% . 1,710,000
53,500,000 public improvement bonds issued December 1, 1995, maturing annually with
interest payable semi-annually through February 1, 2015; Interest rate varies, curtently at 5.00% . 780,000

52,800,000 (1998) VA Revolving Loan Fund. The Loan was refinanced on June 1, 2006 at
3.70% . with semi-annual payments of principal and interest in the amount of 5103,572 on June |
and December 1, Final payment is due June |, 2018. 1,105,466

$10,311,060 (2001) VA Revolving Loan Fund, The Loan will be financed over 20 years at 3.50%
with semi-annual payments of principal and interest in the amount o1 $367,010 on September )

and March 1. Final payment is due March 1, 2021, 5.572.974
Total General Obligations and VA Revolving Loans 18,763,440
Compensated Absences Payable 750,841
Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Cost Payable 134,367
Bond Premiums 60,734
Service Merit (OPEB) payable 255,107
Total Primary Govem_ment. long-term liabliities m

The annual requirements to amortize governmental acitvities debt outstanding as of June 30, 2012 are as follows:

Flscal 2007 Revenue Bond 2004 Revenue Bond 1995 General Obligation Total
Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2013 75,000 83,063 255,000 414,100 245,000 39,000 575,000 536,163
2014 75,000 79,688 265,000 403,700 260,000 26,750 600,000 510,138
2015 80,000 76,000 275,000 392,900 275,000 13,750 630,000 482,650
2016 85,000 71,875 285,000 381,700 - 370,000 453,575
2017 90,000 67,500 295,000 370,100 385,000 437,600
2018 90,000 63,000 310,000 358,000 400,000 421,000
2019 95,000 57.375 320,000 345,400 - 415,000 402,775
2020 100,000 53,500 335,000 332,300 435,000 385,800
2021 105,000 48,375 345,000 318,528 450,000 366,903
2022 110,000 43,000 360,000 304.030

2023-27 655,000 122,375 2,080,000 1,268,510 - 2,715,000 1,390,885

2028-32 150,000 3,750 2,605,000 750.613 . . 2,755.000 754,363

2033-34 - ) - 1,885,000 139,424 - 1,885,000 130,424
Total 8§ L71000C S5 769,501 S 9,585000 5 5,779.304 S 780,000 S 79500 5 11615000 S5 6,281,275

The following general obligation debt and VA revolving loans are issued 10 support business-type activities. The annual
requirements to amortize business-type activities debt outstanding as of June 30, 2012 are as follows:

Fiscal 200] VA Revolving Loan 1998 VA Revolving Loan ) Total

Year Principal Interest Princlpal Interest Principal Interest
2013 536,819 190,308 167,780 38,364 704,509 220,762
2014 555,772 171,445 174,045 33,009 723,817 204,544
2015 575,395 151,823 180,544 26,600 755,839 178,423
2016 595,709 131,507 87,286 19,858 782,895 151,365
2017 616,742 110,475 194,279 12,865 811,021 123,340
2018 838,516 88,700 201,532 5,610 540,048 94310
2019 661,080 66,156 - 661,060 66,156
2020 684,399 42,817 684,309 42 817
202] 708,562 18,654 - 708,662 18,654
Toial ;] 5,572,874 5 971,975 S§ 1105466 S 137,306 5 5,678,440 -5 1,109,371}
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9. Long-Term Liabilities (continued)

The allocation of long-term debt 1o the General Fund or the water and Sewer Fund is determined based on the Town's
intention for repayment of the debt. A summary of the allocation of debt issued is as follows:

Bonds:

1995 Public improvement Bonds

2004B Revenue
2007 Revenue
Loans:
2001 YA Revoiving Loan
1998 VA Revolving Loan

Landfill Closure & Postclosure Care Cost

Compensated Absences

Bond Premiums

Service Merlt (OPEB) payable
Total

10. Fund Balances

water & Sewer Generat

Fund Fund Total
] - 5 780,000 S 780,000
9,585,000 9,525,000
1,710,000 1,710,000
5,572,974 i 5,672,874
1,105,466 - 1,105,466
134,367 134,367
112,845 637,966 750,841
60,734 60,734
- 255,107 235,107

5 6791285 $ 13,173,204 5 19,064,489

Fund balance |s classified as nonspendabile, restricted, commitied, assigned and/or unassigned based primarily on the extent 1o
which the Town is bound to cbserve constraints imposed upon the use of resources in the govemmental funds. The constraints
placed on the general fund balance and other govermnmenial funds balance are presented below:

Nonspendable:
Perpetual Care
Prepaid items
Restricted for:
Law Enforcement
Fire Department
Lifesaving-Rescue Squad

Parks and Recreation - Knowles Estate

Committed

Assigned:
Flre and Lifesaving
Public works
General Administration

Unassigned

Total fund batances at lune 30, 2012

11. Defined Benefit Pension Plan
A Plan Description

Name of Plan:
\dentlfication of Plan:

Adminlstering Agent:

Special
General Revenue cemetery
Fund Fund Fund Totals
s - 8 - 5 366,676 S 366,676
131,851 121,851
- 45,506 - 45,506
448,130 320,489 777,619
503,105 503,105
888,702 888,702
2,216,636 - 2,216,636
200,583 200,583
110,419 . 110,419
14,120,583 - (2.880) 14,117,703

$ 17,228,202 S 1,786,802 S 363,796 $ 19,358,800

Virginia Retirement System (VRS)
Agent and Cost-sharing Multiple-Emplover Deflned Benefii

Virginia Retirement System (Sysné:m)

All ful-time, salaried permanent (professional) employees of participating employers are automaticalty covered by VRS upon
employment. Beneflis vest after five years of service credit. Members earn one month of service credit for each monih they
are employed and their employer is paying inio the VRS. Members are eligible 1o purchase prior public service, active duty
milltary service, certain periods of leave and previously refunded VRS service as credit in their plan,

VRS administers two defined benefit plans for iocal government employess - Plan | and Plan 2:

Members hired before July 1, 2010 and who have service credits bejore July 1, 2010 are covered under Plan |. Non-
hazardous duty members are eligible for an unreduced retirement benefit beginning ar age 65 with at least five years of
service credit or age 50 wlith at least 30 years of service credit. They may retire with a reduced benefit early age 55 with
at least flve years of service credit or age 50 with at least ten years of service credit,
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il, Deflned Benefit Pension Pian {continued)

A,

Plan Description {continued)

Members hired or rehlred on or after July 1, 2010 and who have no service credlis before July 1, 2010 are covered under
Plan 2. Non-hazardous duty members are eligible for an unreduced benefit beginning at their normal Social Security
retirement age with at least five years of service credit or when the sum of thelr age and service squals 90. They may
retire with a reduced benefit as early as age 60 with at leasl five years of service credit,

Eligible hazardous duty members in Plan | and Plan 2 are eligible for an unreduced benefit beginning at age 60 with at
least 5 years of service credit or age 50 with at least 25 years of service credit, These members include, sheriffs, deputy
sheriffs and hazardous duty employees of political subdivisions that have elected t© provide enhanced coverage for
hazardous duty service. They may retire with a reduced benefit as early as age 50 with at least five years of service credit,
All other provisions of the member's plan apply.

The VRS Basic Beneilt is 2 lifetime monthly benefit based on a retitement multiplier as a percentage of the member's average
final compensation multiplied by the member's 1otal service credit. Under Plan |1, average final compensalion is the average
of the member's 36 consecutive months of highest compensation. Under Plan 2, average final compensation is the average
of the members 60 consecutive months of highest compensation, The retirement multiplier for non-hazardous duty
members is 1.70%. Al retirement, members can elect the Basic Beneflt, the Survivor Option, a Partial Lump-Sum Option
Payment (PL.OP) or the Advance Penslon Option. A refirement reduction factor Is applied 1o the Basic Benefii amount for
members electing the Survivor Option, PLOP or Advance Pension Option or those retlring with a reduced benefit.

Retirees are eligible for an annual cost-of-living adjustmeni (COLA) effective July | of the second calendar year of retirement.
Under Plan 1, the COLA cannot exceed 5.00% ; under Plan 2, the COLA cannot exceed 6.00% . During years of no inflation or
deflation, the COLA is 0.00% . The VRS also provides death and disabllity benefits. Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as
amended, assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the General Assembly of Virginla.

The System lssues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that Includes financial statements and required
supplementany’ information for VRS. A copy of the most recent report may be downloaded from their web site at

hitpuwww. varetire org/Pdi/Pyublications/201]-Annual-Report.odf or obtained by writing to the System at P.O. Box 2500,

Richmond, VA 23218-2500.

Funding Policy

Plan members are required by Title 51.1 of the Code of Virginia (1950), as amended, 1o contribute 5.00% of their compensation
toward their retirement. The Town of Christlansburg has assumed this 5.00% member contribution. In addition, the Town is
required to contribute the remaining amounts necessary 1o fund its participation in ihe VRS using the actuarlal basls specified
by the Code of Virginla and approved by the VRS Board of Trustees. The Town's contribution rate for the fiscal year ended
2012 was 15.20% of annual covered payroll. The Town's contribution rate includes the employee’s share of 5.00% paid by the

employer.
Annual Pension Cost

For fiscal year 2012, the Town's annual pension ¢ost of $1.501,056 was equal 1o their required and actual contributions.

Three-Year Trend Informatlon
Annual Percentage
Pension of APC Net Penslon
Filscal Yeat Ending Cost {APC) Contributed Obllgation
June 30, 2010 $ 1,380,855 100.00% 5 -
June 30, 2011 $ 1,430,452 100.00% S -
June 30, 2012 § 1,601,056 100.00% S

The fiscal year 2012 required contribution was determined as part of the June 30, 2009 actuarlal valuation using the entry age
actuarial cost method. The actuarial assumptions al June 30, 2009 included (@) an investment rate of return {net of
administrative expenses) of 7.50%, (b) projecied salary Increases ranging from 3.75% 10 5.60% per year ior genera
govemment employees and 3.50% to 4.75% for employees eliglble for enhanced benefits available o law enforcement
officers, firefighters, and sheriffs, and () a cost-of-living adjustment of 2.50% per year, Both the investment rate of retum and
the projected salary increases include an inflation component of 2.50% . The actuarial value of the Town of Christiansburg's
assets is equal to the modified market value of assets. This method uses techniques that smooth the effects of short-term
volatllity in the market value of assels over g flve-year period. The Authority's unfunded actuarial accrued liability 1s being
amortlzed as a level percentage of projected payrolls on an open basis. The remaining amortization peried at June 30, 2009
for the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL} was 20 years, '

Funded Status and Funding Progress

As of June 30, 2011, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was 67.14% funded. The actuarial accrued tiabllity for
benefiis was $33,888,813, and the actuarial value of assets was $22,733.823, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued
liabillty (UAAL) of 511,134,990, The covered payroll {annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was $9,430,855,
and ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was 118.07% .
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG
NQOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012
1. Defined Benefil Penslon Plan (continued}
. Funded Status and Funding Progress (continued)
The schedule of junding progress, presented as Required Supplementary Information following the notes to the financial

statements, presents multiyear rend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing
over time relative 1o the actuarial accrued liability (AAL) for benefits.

12. Sick Leave Divestiture Plan (Defined Benefit Pension Plan)

A, Plan Description
Name of Plan: Slck Leave Divestlture Plan
Identification of Plan: Single Employer
Administerning Agent; Town of Christiansburg

Sick:l.eave Divestiturg at retirement: Employees retiring In accordance with VRS guldelines and who have ai least five (5)
vears of service with the Town of Christlansburg are eligible to take payment of accrued sick leave payabile directly to them
with the following options (dependent upon time of service):

L. - Employees retiting that have a minimum of five {5) years of service may withdraw 25% of thelr accrued sick leave up to a
maximum of 510,000 (taxabie).

2. Employees hired on or before June 30, 2011, who retire immediately upon separation from the Town with a minimum of
twenty (20) years of service and who are retlring in accordance with VRS guidelines, may take theit total accrued sick
leave in 120 monthly payments (L.e.; 10 years), subject to applicable Federal and State taxes. The value of the accrued sick
leave for payout wilt be calculated at an hourly rate using the VRS Average Final Compensation computation. If the retiree
becomes deceased during the payout perlod, the payouls cease and are non-ransferable.

B. Funding Policy

The plan Is a pay-as-you-go system, with the Town annually’ funding and paylng the beneflts 1o the members.

C. Annual Pension Cost

For flscal year 2012, the Town's annual pension cost for this plan was $105,263 which was $32.026 less than their required
and actual contributions of $138,219.

Three-Year Trend Information

Annual Percentage

Pension of APC Net Pension
Fiscal Year Ending Cost (APC) Contributed Obligation
June 30, 2000 5 131,762 32.31% & 809,196
June 30, 2010 S 131,762 50.76% S 154,076
June 30, 2011 S © 138,219 G60.63% S 132,217
June 30, 2012 s 138,219 75.90% S 184,64

The tiscal year 2012 requlred contribution was determined as part of the June 30, 2011 actuarial valuation using the unir credit
cost method. The actuarial assumptions al June 30, 2011 included (a) an Invesiment rate of reurn (net of administrative
expenses) of 4.00%, (b) prolecied salary Increases ranging from 3.50% per vear for general govemment employees and
3.50% for employees eligible for enhanced benefits available to law enforcement officers, firefighters, and sheriffs, and () a
cost-ofliving adjustment of 2.50% per year. Both the investment raie of retumn and the projected salary increases include an
inflatlon component of 2.50%. The remaining amortization period at June 30, 2011 for the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued
Liabllity (UAAL) was 22 years. As of June 30, 2012, the plan remains unfunded.

D. Funded Status and Funding Progress

As of June 30, 201], the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was unfunded. The actuarial accrued liability for
benefits was 51,498,425 and the actuarial value of assets was 5-0-, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liabllity (UAAL)
of 51,488,425, The 2011 covered payroll (annual payroll of actlve employees covered by the plan) was $9,430,855, and the
ratlo of the UAAL 1o the covered payroll was 15.80% .

13. Risk Management

The Town Is exposed to varous risks of loss related 1o the following: tons, theft of, damage to, and destruction of asseis:
errors and omissions; injuries to employvees; and natural disasters. The Town risk management programs are as follows:

Workers' Compensation - Workers' compensation insurance is provided through the Virginla Municlpal Self Insurance
Association. During 2011-2012, total premiums paid were $588,271. Benefits are those afforded through the Stale of Virginia
as outlined in the Code of Virginig Section 65.2-100: premiums are based on covered payroll, job rates and claims history.
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13. RIsk Mahagement (continued)

General Liability and Other - The Town has general liabllity, automabile liability, property, and public offlclals liability Insurance
through the Virginta Municipal Liabllity Pool. Boiler and machinery coverage and property Insurance are covered as per
statement of values. Total premiums for 2011-2012 were $316,603,

Heglthcare - The Town provides health Insurance coverage for employees through commercial insurance policies.
Employees' spouses and dependents may also be covered provided they pay for part of the premium cost. During the vear,
the Town paid $1.456,147 In healthcare premiums, )

Other - There were no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year and no settlemenits that exceeded the
amount of insurance coverage during the last three fiscal years:

All Town employees are covered by a blanket bond in the amount of 510,000. Additlonally, the Treasurer and Town
Manager are covered by surety bonds in the amount of 5100,000 each, The surety is United States Fidelity and Guaranty.

Intergovernmental dependency - The town depends on financial resources flowing from, or assoclated with, both the federal
government and the State of Virginia. Because of this dependency, the Town is subject to changes In specific flows of
intergovernmental revenues based on modifications to federal and state laws and federal and state appropriations. 1t is also
subject to changes in investmeni earnings and asset values assoclated with U.S. Treasury securities because of actions by
foreign govermnments and other halders of publicly heid U.S. Treasury securities.

During the fiscai vear ended June 30, 2012 the Town received direct funding from the federal and state government as

follows:
Law Enforcement funds 416,572
Streel Maintenance Funds 2,938,583
Sales Tax 1,562,926
Non-Categorical State Aid 1,303,742
Federal and State Grants 1,076,003

—_7.297.836_

14, Contributed Capital

The contributed capiral account of the Enterptise Fund increased from $18,535,238 1o 519,330,057 in 20112012 due 1o
contributed capital - grants in ald of construction of $794,810.

The contributed capital account of the General Fund on the Stalement of Activities for GASB Statement No. 24 purposes
includes the roads given to the Town by developers for the Town to maintain, No new roads were given to the town from
developers during the year ended June 30, 2012,

15, Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs

In FY 1998, the Town adopted GASB Statement No. 18, Accounting for Municipal Solid Wasie Landfilil Closure and Posiclosure
Care Costs. State and federa! laws and regulations require the Town to place a final cover on iis landfil site, as well as other
shties opened In the future when they siop accepting waste, and 10 perform certalin maintenance and monitoring functions ar
the sites for thirty years after closure. Although closure and postclosure care cost will be paid only near or after the date that
the landfill stops accepting waste,. GASB No. 18 requires that the Town record a portion of these closure and posiclosure
care costs as a long-term liability In each period based on landfill capacity used as of each balance sheet date. The $134,367
liabllity for landfill closure and postclosure care cost at June 30, 2012 represents the estimated llability based on the usage of
100% of the estimated capacity of the landfill. - The Town will recoghize the remaining estimated cost of closure and

postclosure care as costs are incurred,

The liabllity accrued at June 30, 2012 is based on what it would cos! to perform all closure and postclosure care in 2012,
Actual cost may differ from this estimate due to inflation, changes in technology or changes in regulation.

16. Postemployment Benefits other than Pension Beneflits

In the fiscal year 2008, the Town adopted GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for
Fastemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. The statement was issued to provide more complete, reliable, and decision-
useful financial reporting regarding the cosis and financial obligations that governmenis incur when they provide
postemployment benefits other than pensions as part of the compensation for services rendered by their empioyees. The
statement will provide better information 1o users about the government's unfunded actualial accrued liabilities (the difference
berween the Town's total obligation for OPER and any assets set aside for financing the benefits) and changes in the funded
status of the benefits over time. The liability Js based on an actuarial valuation performed by a third-party evary two years,
The fotal unfunded accrued labllity at June 30, 2011 is $1,258,886 which Is based on the June 30, 2011 valuation, The
government-wide financial statements reflect the portion of the liability. The Town's plan is a pay-as-you go system. The
annual requlred contribution per the actuarlal valuation is §138,600. During the fiscal year the Town paid out benefits of
535,780. The Net Other Post Employment (OPEB) obllgation at June 30, 2012 Is $255,107. The town currently intends to
continue to fund these benefits annually as they become due on a Pay-as-you-go sysiem.
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18. Postemployment Benefits other than Pension Benefits (continued)

The description of the retirement service merit plan is as follov/s:

Town-Sponsored Service Merlt: An employee retiring under VRS and who has at least 20 years of service to the Town is
cligible for payment of ten dollars (810} per month for each year of service (as determined by Councll with each budget yearn.
Untit age 85 or upon Medicare eligibility, whichever occurs first, the employee's Town Sponscred Service Merit payment
tuns 1o a flat $100/month. These payments are placed into the Retirement Health Savings for the employee's use toward

medical expenses after retirement,

17, Contingency

In October 2002, the Town of Christiansburg received a loarvgrant for $675,000 from the Virginia Depariment of Housing and
Community Developmenit for the construction of low income housing for low income at risk youths. The facilty, Tekoa Boys
Home, was to be built. run and maintained by Community Housing Partners Inc. (CHP). The loan is secured by this facility
and will be forgiven at the end of a 20 year term provided that the original purpose continues to be met.  In the event that
CHF defaulis on the terms of the grantioan, the funds must be repaid to the Virginia Department of Housing and Community
Development and the Town is contingently liable for that repayment. During 2010 the home was converted to other uses
and the Virginla Department of Housing and Community Development has approved thal ‘change stating that “it is a
reasonable replacement for the criginally intended use”,

18. New Accounting Standards

GASB Statement No. 60, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Service Concession Arrangements, was lssued to address
service concession arrangements, which are a type of public-privale or public-public parnership. The statement defines a
service concession arrangement in which (I) the transferor conveys to an operator the fight and related obligation 1o provide
services through the use of infrastructure or another public asset in exchange for significant conslderation and {2) the operator
coliects and is compensated by fees from third parties. The requirements of this statement establish recognitlon,
measurement, and disciosure requirements for these types of arrangements. This statement will be effective for the year

ending June 30, 2013.

GASB Staternent No. 61, The Financlal Reporiing Entity: Omnibus - an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34,
modifies cenain requirements for Inclusion of component units In the financial reporting entity, For organizations that
previously were required 10 be included as component unlits by meeting the fiscal dependency criterion, a financial benefit or
burden relationship also would need to be present to be included as a component unit. The statement also amends the
criteria for teporting of blended component units. For component untts that are blended based on the "substanrtively the same
govemning body” criterion, it additionally requires that a financial benefit or financlal burden relationship exist or management
of the primary government have operational responsibllity for the activities of the component unit. The stalement also clarifies
the reporting of equity interests in legally separale organizations. It requires a primary govemment 10 report its equity’ interest
in & component unit as an asset. This statement will be effective for the year ending June 30, 2013.

GASB Statement No. 62, Codlflcation of Accounting and Flnancial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1889
FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, was Issued to incotporate into the GASB's authoritative literature certain accounting and
financial reporting guidance that is included in FASB pronouncements issued on or before November 30, 1889 which do not
conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements. This staiement will be effective for the year ending June 30, 2013,

GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflow of Resources, and Net
Position, Is intended to -improve financiai reporting by standardizing the presentation of deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources and their effects on a government's net position. It alleviates uncertainty about reporting those
financial statement elements by providing guidance where none previously existed, This statement will be effeciive for the
year ending June 30, 2013.

GASB Statement No. 65, tems Previously Reported as Assets and Llabllities, reclassifies certain liems currently being
reported as assets and liabliiies as deferred outfiows of resources and deferred inflows of resources. In addition, this
Statement recognizes certain items currently being reported as assets and liabilities as outflows of resources and Inflows of
resources. GASB Concepts Siatement No. 4, Elements of Financlal Statements, specifies that recognition of deferred outflows
and deferred inflows should be limited 10 those instances specificalty identified in authoritative GASB pronouncements,
Consequently, gutdance was needed to determine which balances belng reported as assets and liabilities shouid actually be
reported as deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources, according to the definitions in Concepts
Statement 4. This statement will be effective for the year ending June 30, 2013.

GASB Statement No. 86, Technical Corrections - 2012, amends Statement No. 10, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Risk
Financing and Related Insurance Issues, by removing the provision that imits fund-based reporting of a staie and local
government's risk financing activities to the general fund and the intemal service fund tvpe, As 2 result, governments would
base thelr decisions about govemmental fund type usage for risk financing activities on the definitions In Statlement No, 54,
Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definltlons.

36



TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012

18. New Accounting Standards (contlnued)

This Statement alsc amends Staternent No. 62, Codlflcation of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-
November 30, 1988 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, by modifying the specific guldance on accounting for (1) operating
lease payments that vary from a straight-line basis, (2) the difference between the initial Investment (purchase price) and the
principal amount of & purchased loan or group of loans, and (3) servicing fees related to mortgage toans that are sold when
the stated service fee rate differs significantly from a current {normatl) servicing fee rate. These changes would eliminate any
uncertainty regarding the application of Statement No. 13, Accounting for Operating Leases with Scheduled Rent Increases,
and resul! in guidance that is consistent with the requirements in Statement No. 48, Sales and Pledges of Receivables and
Future Revenues and Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets and Furure Revenues, respectively. This statement will be effective for
the year ending June 30, 2013,

GASB Statement No, €7, Flnancial Reporting for Pension Plans, replaces the requirements of Statement No. 25, Financial
Reporting for Defined Benefit Penslon Plans and Note Disclosures for Defined Contribution Plans and Statement No, 50 as
they relate 10 pension plans that are administered through trusts or similar arrangements meeting certain criteria. The
Statement bullds upon the existing framework for financial reports of defined benefit pension plans, which Includes a
satement of fiduciary net position (the amount held in a trust for paying retirement beneflis) and a statement of changes in
fiduclary net position. Statement 67 enhances note disclosures and RSI for both defined benefit and deflned contribution
pension plans. Siatement 67 also requires the presentation of new information about annual money-welghted rates of return
In the notes to the financlal statements and in 10-year RS] schedules. This stalement will be effective for the year ending June

30. 2015,

GASB Statement No. 68, Accouniting and Flnancial Reporting for Pensions, replaces the requirements of Statement No. 27,
Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Govemmental Employers and Staiement No. 50, Pension Disclosures, as they
relale 10 governments that provide pensions through pension plans administered as trusts or similar arrangements thar meet
certain criterla. Statement 68 requires governments providing defined benefit pensions to recognize their long-term obligation
for pension benefits as a liabllity for the {irs: time, and to more cemprehensively and comparably measure the annuai costs of
pension benefits. The Statement also enhances accountability and transparency through revised and new note disclosures
and required supplementary information (RSI). This statement wiil be effective for the year ending June 30, 2016.

19. Subsequen: Events
in preparing these financial statements, the Organization has evaluated events and transactions for potentlal recognitlon or

disclosure through October 26, 2012, the date the financial statements were avallable to be issued, Management is not aware
of any subsequent events that occurred or other matters that should be disclosed,
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Exhibit L

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL. - SPECIAL REVENUE FUND (modified accrual basis of accounting)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012
Variance with

Final Budget -
Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

Beginning fund balance: 5 1,103,654 5 2,012,654 5 2,026,334 5 13,680
Revenues (Inflows):

Interest Income = . 20,538 20,538

State Grants 329,202 328,202 82,719 (246.483)

Federal Grants and other 705,474 705,474 900,482 195,008

Contributions and Miscelianeous 25.100 ‘ 25,100 139,700 114,600
Amounts Available for Expenditures 2,163,430 3,072,430 3.169,773 97,343
Expenditures (Outflows):

Current:

Police Department 223,906 223,906 228,853 (4,847}

volunteer Fire Department 150,000 150,000 166,048 (16,04-8)

Liiesaving and Rescue 150,000 150,000 294,648 (14-4,64.8)

Parks and Recreation 500,000 500,000 104,008 385,902

Sidewalks Infrastructure 110,000 110,000 140,528 (30,528)

BioMass Generation Capital Outlay 420,900 420,900 526,083 (106,083)
Total Expenditures 1,554,806 1,554,806 1,461,068 03,738

Excess of revenues over expenditures 508,624 1,517,624 1,708,705 3,605
Other financing (sources) uses:

Transfers (150,000) (150,000} (58,087} (81,903)
Total other {inancing (sources) uses {150,000) (150,000) {58,087} {91,903)
Ending Budgetary Fund Balance s 758,624 5 1,667,624 S 1,766,802 5 95,508
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Exhibit M

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - PERMANENT FUND (modified accrual basis of accounting)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012

Variance with

Final Budget -
Budgeted Amounts Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
Beginning unassigned fund balance: s 6,000 3 5920 S s (5,920)
Revenues (Inflows):
Interest iIncome 1,000 1,000 6,829 5,020
Burials 37,880 37.880 62,955 25,075
Sale of Lots 60,540 609,540 27.905 (41,635)
Miscellaneous 40 40 500 460
Amounts Available for Expenditures 114,460 114,380 08 289 (18,091}
Expenditures (Outfiows):
Current;
Salaries and Fringe 92,003 92,003 88,708 5,285
Insurance and Operational Costs 60,180 60,180 50,933 9,247
Equipment Purchases and Capital Cutlay 0,700 9,700 8,623 1,077
Total Expenditures 161,883 161,883 146,264 15,619
Excess of revenues over expenditures (47,423) {47,503) (47.975) (3L.710)
Other financing (sources) uses:
Transfers (85.303) (85,303} {52,557) (32,746)
Total other financing (sources) uses (85,303} {85.303) (52,557) (32,746)
Assigned to Perpetual Care 37,880 37.800 4,582
Ending Unassigned Budgetary Fund Balance S - 5 - $ - S 1,036




Statistical Section

This part of the Town of Christiansburg Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
presents detailed information as a context for understanding what the information the
financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary Information says
about the Town's overall financial health, '

Contents Page
Financial Trends These schedules contain trend information to 42-47

help the reader understand how the Town's
financial performance and wellbeing have
changed over time. Schedules 1 to0 6

Revenue Capacity These schedules contain information to help the 48-51
reader assess the Town's most significant local
revenue sources. Schedules 7-10

Debt Capacity These schedules present information to help the 52-54
reader assess the affordability of the Town's
current levels of outstanding debt and the
Town's ability to issue additional debt in the
future. Schedules 11-13

Demographic and These Schedules offer demographic and 55-56
Economic Information econcmic indicators to help the reader
understand the environment within which the
Town's financial activities take place. Schedules
14-15

Operating Information These schedules contain  service and 57-61
infrastructure data to help the reader understand
how the information in the Town's financial
report relates to the services the Town provides
and the activities it performs. Schedules 16-19
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Schedule 5

GENERAL GOVERNMENT REVENUES BY SOURCE
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Permits,
Privilege Revenues
General Other Fees, and From Use
Property Local Regulatory Fines and of Money and
Fiscal Year Taxes Taxes Licenses Forfeitures Property
2011-2012 s 3.065,669 s 13,383,114 5 190,405 5 126,702 $ 413,404
2010-2011 $ 3,006,273 $ 13,111,979 5 131,369 $ 95,038 5 489,477
2009-20I10 5 3,053,658 5 12,051,7E1] 5 203,998 5 118,559 [ 349,955
2008-2009 $ 2,808,687 5 12,382,884 5 137,796 5 86,924 5 592,416
2007-2008 5 2,775,831 $ 11,666,242 5 191,857 $ 95,025 s 1,203,765
2006-2007 $ 2,664,013 5 11,006,752 5 211,538 5 148,523 S 1,303,090
2005-2006 S 2,626,603 $ 10,068,405 s 252,318 5 138,83] 5 674,152
2004-2005 5 2,530,438 $ 8,824,010 ] 250,188 $ 87,466 5 318,480
2003-2004 5 2,403,583 5 8,239,175 3 144,197 s 83,420 s 18,531
2002-2003 S 1,905,200 5 8,703,186 $ 126,885 5 93,833 S 184,562
Charges Business Type
For Inter- Activities
Fiscal Year Services Miscellaneous governmental Total water and Sewer
2011-2012 $ 2,433,381 s 223,809 ] 3,802,224 S 23,638,808 5 6,613,507
2010-2011 5 2,207,153 5 257,939 $ 3,797,190 5 23,096,418 ] 5,855,965
2009-2010 S 1,397,405 $ 227,265 5 3,685,031 ] 21,087,582 5 5.932.787
2008-2000 5 1,399,805 $ 1,088,110 & 3,749,731 s 22,336,443 ] 5,602,405
2007-2008 S 1,214,173 5 714,274 5 3,520,364 s 21,381,531 S 5,395,885
2006-2007 $ 1,192 332 s 611,289 5 3,419,113 5 20,557,550 3 5,188,377
2005-2006 5 1,159,231 S 304,786 5 3,294,761 $ 18,519,087 3 5,145,870
2004-2005 s 1,091,103 5 204,476 5 3,057,190 5 16,363,331 $ 5,011,017
2003-2004 5 1,039,175 S 181,105 $ 3,417,516 s 15,626,702 5 4,643,572
2002-2003 s 973,286 $ 198,725 $ 2,737,806 5 12,923,492 -] 4,395,821
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Schedule 6

GENERAL GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURES BY FUNCTION
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Genhetal Pubtic Public Healih and
Fiscal Year Administration Safety Works Welfare
2011-2012 S 1,855,373 S 7,052,940 5} 4,859,519 s 3,193
2010-2011 3 2,077,241 5 6,661,587 ] 4,848,285 s 3,7100
2009-2010 ] 1,837,708 = 6,628,215 S 5.079,078 5 3,100
2008-2005 5 1,701,156 5 6,488,748 S 4,444,111 5 3,040
2007-2008 S 1,618,229 S 5,808,655 5 4,630,843 ) 2,700
2006-2007 s 1,400,715 5 5.218,112 5 4,237,338 ] 2,760
2005-2006 5 1,262,538 5 4,988,285 5 4,204 419 5 2,500
2004-2005 s 1,204,434 s 4,499,932 3 4,033,452 5 2,500
2003-2004 S 1,084,717 5 4,145,807 S 3,652,370 3 2,400
2002-2003 5 1,005,050 3 3,810,958 ] 3,325,153 5 2,400
Parks,
Recreation
and Community Debt Capltal
Fiscal Year Culture Development Service Outlay Total
2011-2012 5 3,668,779 5 1,276,907 5 LI1ILI75 S 1.792,966 5 21,521,852
2010-2011 5 3,286,646 s 1,132,826 5 1,113,981 s 1,368,232 5 202,402,868
2009-2010 s 2,305,876 5 1,374,850 S 1,119,544 5 7,962,020 S 26,413,191
2008-2009 S 1,845,749 S 1,258,527 5 1,1i3.324 S 7,188,705 s 24,043,360
2007-2008 S 1,673,455 s 1,906,079 5 1,005,851 S 8,288,726 3 25,035,438
2006-2007 5 1,750,906 5 1,516,400 S 958,129 S 3,124,325 5 18,208,602
2005-2006 5 1,374,703 5 851,633 s 1,000,010 1 3,114 504 s 16,798,592
2004-2005 s 1,292,271 s 804,038 5 308,419 s 2,475,860 S 14,621,806
2003-2004 S 1,230,679 5 1,372,615 5 347,048 S 2,485,637 5 14,321,373
2002-2003 5 1,194,785 5 85],112 s 370,172 S 3.115,346 5 13,474974
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Percent Delinguent (2)
Fiscal Total (1) Current Tax (1) of Levy Tax
Year Tax Levy Collections Collected Collections
2011-2012 5 3.235,021 $ 3,199,678 98.91% 8 67,346
2010-2011 5 3,171,455 $ 3.156,754 99.54% $ 48 808
2009-2010 S 3.002,25] 5 3,083,654 099.72% s 168,857
2008-2009 S 3.060,904 S 3,050,888 99.67% s 48,033
2007-2008 ] 2,965,908 5 2,928,380 98.73% 3 49,590
2006-2007 $ 2,837,231 ) 2,836,463 990.97% 5 29,276
2005-2006 $ 2,771,886 & 2,812,849 101.47% 3 55,744
2004-2005 $ 2,680,188 S 2,615,979 97.28% 3 76,273
2003-2004 s 2,612,519 5 2,513,352 96.20% S 24,898
2002-2003 S 2,068,972 s 2,025,208 97.84% ] 34,521
Percent of Percent of (I}
Total Tax Outstanding (3) Delinquent
Fiscal Total Tax Collections Delinguent Taxes to
Year Coliections to Tax Levy Taxes Tax Levy
20112012 5 3,267,024 100.99% 5 132,657 4.10%
2010-2011 ) 3,205,652 101.08% S 129,688 4.09%
2008-2010 5 3,252,511 105.18% $ 125,620 4.06%
2008-2009 5 3,098,921 101.24% 5 135,188 4.42%
2007-2008 S 2,977,979 100.41% 5 116,143 3.92%
20086-2007 ) 2,865,739 101.00% $ 109,736 3.87%
2005-2006 s 2.868,593 103.49% S 123,064 4.44%
2004-2005 = 2,692.252 100.11% s 159,908 5.95%
2003-2004 S 2,538,250 97.16% s 190,471 7.29%
2002-2003 $ 2.059,819 99.51% 5 142,187 6.87%

Notes:

(I}  Exclusive of penaliies and intersst. includes public service corporations
and personal property reimbursement from the Commonwealth,

(2) This heading "Delinquent Tax Collections" includes zll delinquent tax
collsctions made within the fiscal year indicated regardless of when the
levy occurred. Also, included in total is the amount of refunds paid
during the year.

(3) This heading, "Outstanding Delinquent Taxes", merely reports iotal

outstanding delinquent taxes as of the fiscal year end as one lump sum.
in subsequent fiscal years, these amounis are not being reduced by
subsequent collections for purposes of this schedule. Only the
outstanding delinquent taxes resulting from the current fiscal year levies
plus 20 years delinquent real estate taxes and 5 years delinquent
personal property taxes are being reporied in the lump sum amount.
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Schedule 10

WATER AND SEWER RATES
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal Year
2012 2011 2010 2008 2008 2007 2008 2005 2004 2003
WATER
INSIDE TOWN LIMITS
4,000 OR LESS § 1600 $ 1380 $ I3.30 § I3.00 $ 1200 & 130 8§ 1L.OG S5 1000 § 1000 5 10.00
PER THOUSAND FOR NEXT 86,000 448 4.00 3.70 3.55 3.45 3.35 3.25 3.05 2.76 2,76
PER THOUSAND FOR NEXT 5,900,000 2.40 2.20 2.20 2,20 2.10 210 2.10 2.00 2.00 2.00
OUTSIDE TOWN LIMITS
4,000 OR LESS $ 2400 $ 2070 § 1885 5 1950 $ IBOD § G50 S 1650 S5 15.00 S 1500 S [5.00
PER THOUSAND FOR NEXT 86,000 6.60 6.00 5.55 5.32 5.175 5.025 4.875 4.575 4.4 4.4
PER THOUSAND FOR NEXT 5,200,000 3.60 3.30 3.30 3.30 3.15 3.5 3.15 3.00 3.00 3.00
SEWER
INSIDE TOWN LIMITS .
0-4,000 $ 2600 5 23.00 $ 2300 5§ 2200 § 2000 § - - 5 s
OVER 4,000 PER THOUSAND 7.00 6.00 5.70 5.65 4.40 - .
0-8,000 - - 32.00 32.00 32.00 32.00 32.00
OVER 8,000 PER THOUSAND - 4.20 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00
OUTSIDE TOWN LIMITS
0-4.,000 $ 3000 § 3450 § 3450 § 3300 § 3000 § 5 -1 - 8 - 8
OVER 4,000 PER THOUSAND 10.50 9.00 8,55 8.47 6.60 - -
0-8,000 - - . 48.00 48,00 48.00 48.00 48,00
OVER 8,000 PER THOUSAND - - 6.30 6,00 6.00 6.00 8.00
GABBAGE
INSIDE TOWN LIMITS § 33.00 5 3000 S 30,00 $§ 3000 $ 26.00 $ 2600 5§ 2600 § 2500 5 28,00 § 25.00
OUTSIDE TOWN LIMITS 48.00 45.00 45,00 45,00 38.00 30.00 368.00 37.50 37.50 37.50
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

DEMOGRAPHIC STATISTICS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Total Personal

Income in Per Capita.
Fiscal Year Thousands of Personal Unemployment
Ended Popuiation (1) Doliars (2) Income: (3) Rate (4)
2012 bl h¥ i 6.80%
2011 21,030 b i 7.40%
2010 21,041 3,087,781 27,844 7.30%
2009 19,632 3,012,683 27,366 5.83%
2008 19,507 2,880,619 27,354 3.60%
2007 19,128 2,835,781 26,299 2.80%
2006 18,542 2,635,476 24,831 3.10%
2005 18,457 2,422,518 23,177 3.60%
2004 17,839 2,265,522 22,020 2.60%
2003 17,693 2,159,453 21,106 2.60%
Notes:

(I} Data derived from Weldon Cooper statistical analysis for Towns in Virginia.

(2) Data is for Montgomery County and Radford City as this data Is not available for
Towns. Data derlved from the Bureau of Labor Statistics, Christiansburg is the

County seat for Montgomery County.

(3) Data is for Monigomery County and Radford City as this data is not available for

Towns. Data derived from the Bureau of Labor Statistics.

{4) Unemployment data is as of June 30.

** Data not yet available

S5

Schedule 14



TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Schedule 15

PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS
CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO

Fiscal Year 2012 Fiscal Year 2003

Employer Number of Employees Rank Number of Employees Rank
Montgomery County School Board 1.000 and over employees 1 1,000 and over employees 1
Echostar Corporation (Dish Network) 500 to 999 employees 2 1,000 and over empioyees 2
Town of Christlanshurg 250 to 499 employecs 3 250 10 499 employees 7
wal-Mart 250 o 499 employees 4 250 10 499 employees 4
County of Montgomery 250 t0 499 employees s 250 to 499 employees 5
Corming Glass Works 250 to 499 employees 6 250 to 499 employees 8
Shelor Motor Mile, Inc. 250 10 499 employees 7 250 to 499 employees 6
Hubbell Lighting 100't0 249 employees 8 250 10 499 employees 3
Red Lobster & The Olive Garden 100 to 249 employees o 50 to 99 employees 19
Target Corp. 100 to 242 employees 10 100 to 249 employees 13
Lowes Home Centers, Inc. 100 to 249 employees 1 100 to 240 employees 14
Cracker Barre] Old Country Store 100 i0 249 empioyees 12 100 10 249 employees 15
National Bank of Blacksburg 100 to 249 employees 13 100 t0 249 ernployees 17
First National Bank (Stellar One) 100 t0 249 employees 14 100 to 249 emplovees 10
The Home Depot ) 50 to 29 employees 15 100 to 249 employees 16
Texas Roadhouse 50 to 99 employees 16 IGO0 to 249 employees 11
Community Housing Partners less than 50 17 100 to 249 employees =]
C&S Door less than 50 18 100 to 249 empioyees 12
Sears Roebuck & Company, Inc. less than 50 19 50 to 99 employees 18

Source: Virginia Employment Commisston
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG Schedule 16

FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT TOWN GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal Year
2012 2011 2010 2008 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Funciion
General Admintistration
Town Managers office 8.5 10.5 12.0 6.5 9.0 8.0 7.0 55 5.5 50
Planning 2.0 3.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
TreasurerFinance 10.0 10,0 10.0 11.0 [2.5 12,0 12.5 125 125 1.5
Human Resources 1L.O 1.O 1.0 1.0 1.5 1.0 1.0 L.5 1.0 1.0
Public Relations 1.5 1.5 1.0 .
Information Technology 1.5 2.0 2.0
Public Safety
Police 72.5 73.0 73.0 70.0 71.5 65.5 615 58.0 60.0 54.5
Fire 1.5 2.0 2.0 1.5 1.0 1.5 1.0 i.0 1.0 1.0
Rescue 1.0 1.O 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.O 1.O 1.0 1.0 1.0
Public works
Malnienance 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Sanitation 11.0 H.OQ 11.0 11.0 1.0 11.0 11.0 .0 11.0 1.0
Streets 33.0 35.0 35.0 33.5 34.0 34.0 32.0 31.0 34.0 34.0
Water and Sewer 32.0 36.0 36.0 36.0 36.0 37.0 35.0 34.5 38.0 38.0
Plant gperatlons 1.5 11.5 11.5 11.0 11.0 .o 11.0 1I.O 11.0 11,0
Engineering 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 8.0 10.5 10.5
Building Inspections 4.5 5.0 5.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4,0
Parks and Recreation 79.0 86.0 B6.0 79.5 90.0 775 75.5 715 69.5 37.5
Agquatics 40.5 34.0 34.0 3.0
Cemetery 1.5 2.0 2.0 2.0 1.0 - -
Totals 325.5 337.5 337.5 286.0 208.5 278.5 267.5 254.5 264.0 225.0
Fire Department Volunteers 35.0 35.0 35.0 34.0 35.0 36.0 16.0 6.0 17.0 28.0
Rescue Department Volunteers 75.0 67.0 67.0 67.0 67.0 85.0 62.0 62.0 49.0 40.0

Noie: A ful-time employee is scheduled to wo'rk 2,080 hours per year (including holiday, vacation, and sick leave). Fullime
employment is calculated by dividing total labor hours by 2.080.
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Michael B. Cooke, C.PA., PC.

Certified Public Accountants

6 Colony Park
2001 South Main Street
Blacksburg, Virdinia 24060
(540) 853-1152
REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS APPLICABL=
TO EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROIL.
OVER COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH OMB CIRCULAFE A-133

To the Honorable Mayer arid Memkbkers of Town Council
Christiansburg, Virginia

Comnliance

we have audited the compliance of the Town of Christianisburg with ths. types of
compliance requirements described in the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance
Supplement that are applicable to each of its major faderal programs for the year
ended June Z0, 2012, Town of Christiansburg’s major feds.al programs are
icentified in the summany ¢f aucitor's results section of the accompanying schedule
or iindings and questioned costs. Compliance with the requirements of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to each of its major federal prograrns
is the responsibility of the Town of Christiansburg’s management. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Town of Christiansburg’'s compliance
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of .america; the standards applicable o
financial audits contained in Gouernment Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller Ceneral of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States,
Local Gouvernments, and Nor-Profit Organizations. Those standards and CMB
Circular A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a
major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence about Town of Christiansburg's compliance with those requirements and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
oDinion. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of Town of
Christiansburg's compliance with those requirements.

'n our opinion, Town of Christiansburg complied, in ail material resoects, with the
requirements referred to above that are applicable to each of its major federal
prodrams for the year ended June 30, 2012,

internal Control Over Compliance

Management of Town of Christiansburg is resporisibie ior esiablishing and
maintaining effective internal control over compliance vith the requirements of
iaws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to federal programs. In planning
and performing our audit, we considered Town of Christiansburg’s internal control
over compliance with the requircments that could have a direct and material effect
on a major federal program in order to determine our auditing procedures for the
purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance and 1o tast and report on internel
control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opirion c¢n the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinicn on the effectiveness of
Town of Christiansburg’s internal control over compiiance. '
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A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation
of a control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the
normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and
correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program on a timely basis. A material weakness in intemal control over compliance
is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance,
such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type
of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected
and corrected, on a timely basis.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose
described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be deficiencies,
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses, We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over complitance that we consider to be material
weaknesses, as defined above.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, Town

Council, federal awarding agencies, and pass-through entities and is not intended
to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

kol B ok, 0o pe

Blacksburg, Virginia
Qctober 26, 2012
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012

Federal Pass-through
] CFDA Entity ldentifying Federal
Fedesral Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Grant Program Number Number Expenditures
U.S. Department of Transportation
Pass-through programs from:
Virginia Department of Transportation:
TEA-2) - Downtown Chrisfiansburg Project 20.205 ENOO-154-122 PE101,RW201, s 2,409
C50L,UPC 56407
U.S. National Highwvay Traffic Administration
Pass-through programs from:
Virginia Department of Motor Vehicies:
Home Grown Traffic Safety Initiatives 20.607 154AL-2011-51179-4121 6,168
Selective Enforcement 20.607 154AL-2012-52147-4525 27.335
U.S. Department of Energy
Pass-through programs from:
virginia Department of Mines, Minerals, and Energy:
ARRA - Biomass Energy Grant Program 81.088 Cl10-605! 406,806
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
Pass-through programs from: ’
Department of Housing and Community Development:
Community Development Block Grant 14.218 B-10-MC-51-0028 113,814
U.S. Department of Justice
Bulletproof Vest Partnership Program 16.507 1121-0235 1.I68
Information Techneology improvement 16.738 13-C5843CRI| 18,600
Pass-through programs from:
Bureau of Justice Assistance:
Commonweaith of Virginia Department of Criminal Justice:
Crime Prevention - Crime View Software 16,738 [1-A2125AD08 18,444
ARRA - Intemet Crimes Against Children 16.800 11-A2272AC]1 45,006
Local Law Enforcement Block Grant 16.738 IE-L1020L010 258
Office of Justice Programs:
Bedford County, Virginia )
ARRA - Internet Crimes Against Children 16.800 2009-SN-Bo-K012 16,381
Total expenditures of federal awards % 656,480

*  Denotes major program

See accompanying notes (o financial statements.
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2012

A. SUMMARY OF AUDIT RESULTS

1.

2,

8.

9.

The auditor's report expresses an unquaiifled opinion on the financial statements of the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia,

No reportable conditions relating to \he audit of the financial statements are reported in the Report on Compliance and on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting Based on an Audit of Financlal Statements Performed in Accordance whh

Government Audlting Standards.

No instances of nencompliance material ta the financlal statements of the Town of Christiansburg, virglnia were
disclosed during the audit,

No reportable conditions relating to the audilt of the major federa! award programs are reported in the Report on
Compliance with Regulrements Applicable (o the Major Program and Internal Control over Compliance in Accordance
with OMB Circular A-133.

The auditor's report on compllance for the major federal award programs for the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia,
expresses an ungualified opinion.

Audlt findings relative to the major federal award programs for the Town of Christiansburg, Virginla, are reported In Part C.
of this scheduie.

The programs tested as a major program Includes:

Biomass Energy Grant Program - CFDA # 81.086
Community Development Block Grant - CFDA #14.218

The threshold for distinguishing Types A and B programs was $300,000,

The Town of Christiansburg, Virginia, was not determined to be a low risk audilee,

B. FINDINGS - FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT

None

C. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAM AUDIT

None

D. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - COMMONWEALTH OF VIRGINIA

Condlitlon:

Two out of the ten members of the Town's appeinted goveming body and management did not flie their statements of
economic interest by the 15th of January as required by the Code of Virginia, Both members are still members of the
Town's governing body,

Recommendation:
Steps should be taken to ensure that these statements are flled in a timely manner.
Management's Response:

The auditee concurs with this recommendation.
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TOWN OF CHRISTIANSBURG

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,2012

L.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) Includes the federal
grant activity of the Town of Christlansburg under programs of the federal government for the vear
ended June 30, 20l2. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the
requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.
Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the Town of Christiansburg,
it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes In net assets. or cash flows of
the Town of Christiansburg.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

1. Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained In OMB Circular A-87, Cost
Principles for State, Local, and Indian Tribal Gouvernments, wherein certain types of expenditures
are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement,

2. Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented where available.
B. DIRECT AND INDIRECT (PASS-THROUGH) FEDERAL AWARDS
Federal awards may be granted directly to the Town by a federal granting agency or may be

granted to other government agencies which pass-through federal awards to the Town. The
Schedule includes both of these types of Federal award programs when they occur.



Michael B. Cooke, C.PA., PC.

Certified Public Accountants

6 Colony Park

2001 South Main Street
Blacksburg, Virginia 24060
(540) 953-1152

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTRQL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
AND _ON COMPILIANCE AND QTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN
AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

The Honorable Mayor and Members of Town Council
Town of Christiansburg, Virdinia

We have audited the basic financial statements of the governmental activities,
business-type activities, and each major fund of the Town of Christiansburg,
Virginia, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2012, which colleciively comprisa
the Town of Christiansburg’s basic financial statements and have issued our report
thereon dated October 26, 2012, We conducted our audit in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and tha
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Gouernment Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States,

Internal Control Over Financial Reporiing

Management of the Town of Christiansburg, Virginia, is responsible for establishing
effective internal control over financial reporting. In planning and performing our
audit, we considered the Town of Christiansburg's internal control over financial
reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of
expressing our opinions on the financial staterments, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town of Christiansburg’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Town of Christiansburg's intemal control over financial

reporting.

A deficiency In internal control exists when the design or operation of a control
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a
timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,
in_internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatoment of the entity’s financial statements will not be pravented, or detected
and corrected on a timely basis.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited
purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to
identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that might be
deficiencies, significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. We did not identify
any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider 10 be
material weaknesses, as defined above.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town of
Christiansburg's financial statements are free of material misstatement, we
performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
confracis and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct
and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However,
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of
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our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our
tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to
be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Town Council,
management, and state and federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities,
and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

Michsd B. Lok, CA P

Blacksburg, Virginia
October 26, 2012
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Michael B. Cooke, C.PA., PC.

Certified Public Accountants

6 Colony Park

2001 South Main Street
Blacksburg, Virginia 24060
{540) 953-1152

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF LAWS, REGULATIONS, CONTRACTS, AND GRANTS

The Honorable Mayor and Members of the Town Council
Town of Christiansburg, Virginia:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Town of
Christiansburg, Virginia, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2012, and have
issued our report thereon dated October 26, 2012,

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards
and standards applicable to financial audits contained in Specifications for Audits of
Counties, Cities, and Towns issued by the Auditor of Public Accounts of the
Commonwealth of Virginia. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit fo obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement.

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town of
Christiansburg's financial statements are free of material misstatement, we also
performed tests of compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grants related to the following state compliance matters:

State Compliance Matters

Code of Virginia: State Agency Reguirements:
Budget and Appropriation Laws Highway Maintenance Funds

Cash and Investment Laws

Conflicts of interest Acts

[.ocal Retirement Systems

Debt Provisions

Procurement Laws

Uniform Disposition of Unclaimed Property Act

Compliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and grants, applicable to the Town of
Christiansburg, Virginia, is the responsibility of the Town’s management. Providing
an opinion on such provisions was not an objective of our audit of the financial
statements and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

The results of our tests relating to the above mentioned state compliance matters
disclosed the following instances of noncompliance that are required to be
reported:

All locally appointed officials must file an annual disclosure form (Section 2.2-
3115 of the Code of Virginia) with the clerk of the governing body by January 15"
each year. All required disclosure forms were not received by the clerk as of
this due date.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of Town Council,
management, and state and federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities
and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

Mucknl B. Lok, ¢, PC

Blacksburg, Virginia
October 26, 2012
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